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Achieving milestones, resuming growth 
AtCor Medical has established its SphygmoCor® technology as the global gold standard in 
noninvasive assessment of central blood pressure and arterial stiffness in the research, 
pharmaceutical clinical trial and clinical practice markets.

As noninvasive assessment continues its steady progress from the world of science into the 
world of patient care, our goal is to maintain our leadership position as central pressures and 
arterial stiffness measurement become the standard of care in cardiovascular risk assessment 
and patient management.

Even in an extremely challenging economic and political environment for health care providers, 
research organisations and pharmaceutical companies, the adoption of our technology by 
clinical and business leaders continued to grow. The published scientific evidence supporting 
the need for central pressure assessment has become even more compelling.

A sea change in cardiovascular patient care is underway, and AtCor is well positioned to take 
advantage of it. 
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Highlights of the year

• Net loss reduced to $1.2 million from 
$1.7 million in FY09

• US clinical practice sector sales increased 
by 43%

• Two favourable reimbursement decisions in 
the state of Michigan from Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services. 5 million covered lives

• New clinical software released enhancing 
ease of use for properties

• Customer advisory groups formed with 
key opinion leaders to help guide local and 
national reimbursement strategy
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Here is the waveform of a 61 year old male smoker shown on the new SphygmoCor software. His brachial pressure is 140/80, 
which does not suggest any major cardiovascular risk. However, when his central blood pressure was measured with SphygmoCor, 
he was found to have a heart attack and stroke risk level twice that of a normal healthy 61 year old. After seeing his doctor he 
was prescribed medication and his central pressure brought into a normal range. Without knowing his actual blood pressure 
– his central pressure reading – he would have remained unmedicated, increasing his chance of a future cardiovascular event. 

AtCor board (left to right): Duncan Ross, Dr David Brookes, Dr Michael O’Rourke, peter Jenkins, Donal O’Dwyer. 

SphygmoCor® technology
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Dear shareholder,

I am happy to report to you that AtCor made significant and 
solid progress throughout the year in terms of both financial 
performance and achieving key objectives that continue to 
position AtCor for what, I believe, will be a very bright and 
successful future.

these outcomes are even more commendable given that they 
were achieved in a year in which the global financial crisis 
impacted many of our customers in a significant way and 
created an atmosphere of uncertainty in many healthcare 
markets around the world.  

As I have done in prior letters, before commenting on AtCor’s 
results I want to repeat why I believe the case for the adoption 
of AtCor’s technology is so strong. As we look to the healthcare 
needs of the future, the ability of western governments and 
those of emerging economies to provide appropriate and 
effective healthcare to their citizens will be seriously impacted 
by ever-increasing costs if the way in which disease is 
treated remains unchanged. More and more there is growing 
agreement that there is a need to focus on earlier disease 
identification, providing an opportunity to intervene earlier and 
with less expensive methods than is routinely the practice today. 

In the area of cardiovascular disease identification and 
treatment, which is one of the largest-spend areas in 
healthcare budgets today, AtCor’s SphygmoCor is well placed 
to play an important part in making this change a reality. the 
ability to access central blood pressures non invasively using 
SphygmoCor provides physicians the means to identify the 
onslaught and progress of cardiovascular disease earlier. this 
allows an opportunity to select effective treatment options that 
are less expensive than those typically used today. 

now to AtCor’s performance – our goal is to create a business 
that is sustainable from an earnings and cash perspective and 
has significant opportunities to grow and create value. We 
believe that, with our excellent technology, capable organisation 
and strong business leadership, we have made major strides 
forward in the past year towards achieving our goal.

While sales declined 4% on a constant currency basis from the 
prior year, we were encouraged by the return to growth in the 
second half. Also, improved gross margin and tight expense 
control allowed your company to reduce its loss to $1.2 million 
from $1.7 million in FY09.

Cash at year end was $1.6 million, which represented net cash 
outflows of $1.8 million for the year. net cash outflow was less 
than $400,000 in the second half.

Some other significant achievements during this past year 
included:-

 − Substantial progress was made in the area of 
reimbursement in the uS. this included two important 
coverage decisions in the state of Michigan, establishment 
of several clinical advisory groups and increasing use of 
SphygmoCor in routine clinical applications – reflecting 
increased sales to the clinical practice sector.

 − Additional papers that support the clinical adoption 
of SphygmoCor were published. these add to the 
considerable library of clinical literature that already exists 
that supports AtCor’s technology. 

 − the new clinical software was successfully launched into 
the clinical market and very well received. this product 
has many benefits over its predecessor including real-time 
feedback, auto capture of results and overall it is easier 
to use. 

 − Important progress was made to identify potential 
applications for SphygmoCor in areas not previously a 
major focus. these included cardiac resynchronisation 
therapy (CRt) optimisation, pre-eclampsia and potential 
for an expanded role for central blood pressure 
measurement in drug trials.

 − We continued to strengthen and position our organisation 
in order to take full advantage of the exciting opportunities 
ahead of us.

the performance of our share price during the year has been 
disappointing, particularly in light of the operational successes 
that have been achieved. Your board believes that, given the 
major size of the potential market we are targeting, our strong 
capacity to successfully win new business in this market and 
our history of delivering on our commitments, the real value 
of AtCor is not reflected in the current share price. We will 
continue to work to deliver against our plans and communicate 
our progress effectively.

You will soon receive notification of our AGM, and the board 
and I cordially invite you to attend. It will be a great opportunity 
to meet many of the AtCor team and gain an even greater 
understanding of the company.

Finally, I want again to record my thanks, on behalf of all 
shareholders, to the management and employees of AtCor, to 
our medical advisers and, most importantly, to our customers, 
who are leading the way in the treatment of cardiovascular 
disease. 

Donal O’Dwyer 
Chairman 
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Dear shareholder,

Achieving milestones, 
resuming growth
I am pleased to report to you on AtCor’s FY2010 results, 
and the important milestones achieved and the strategies 
and initiatives which continue to guide our future progress 
and success. 2010 was a year in which the global financial 
crisis impacted our customers in a very substantial way. 
uncertainty created by uS Healthcare reform effectively shut 
down pharmaceutical contracts until new legislation was signed 
in March 2010. Despite this, growth returned in the second 
half and important milestones were achieved, including two 
positive Medicare reimbursement decisions for SphygmoCor 
in Michigan. In this difficult environment, your company 
responded by aggressively managing cash and expenses 
to match revenue. 

AtCor is optimistic as we head into 2011. While healthcare 
and research budgets remain tight and economic recovery 
has been slow, we expect sales growth to return to double-
digit levels on a constant currency basis. Our primary objective 
of cash and earnings self-sustainability remains in close 
sight. AtCor Medical continues to build on its position as 
the worldwide gold standard in non-invasive central blood 
pressure measurement and measures of arterial stiffness.

FY2010 HigHligHTS
 − Overall, global sales were $9.2 million, down 4% year 

on year on a constant currency basis. However, sales 
in H2 increased 4% on a constant currency basis. 

 − Sales in the uS increased by 5%, with clinical practice 
sector sales up 43%. pharmaceutical sector sales 
rebounded in H2, growing 16% pcp after a slow H1.

 − Sales in Europe and Asia pacific declined but both 
markets were strengthening at year end and are 
expected to resume growth in 2011.

 − Gross margin improved by over 500 basis points from 
84.5% in 2009 to 90.1%. Significant contributors 
to improved efficiency were lower production costs 
from a  full year of the SphygmoCor EM3 system 
released in november 2008; and sales of previously 
leased pharmaceutical systems.

 − Operating expenses continued to be managed diligently, 
down 14% ($1.7 million) on a constant currency basis.

 − net loss for the year was reduced by $0.5 million 
to ($1.2 million).

 − Cash at 30 June was $1.6 million, down $1.8 million from 
30 June 2009. Operating cash outflows for the year were 
($2.6 million). net outflows were less than ($0.4 million) 
in H2, reflecting improved collections and tight expense 
management implemented during H1.

 − the evidence in support of our technology and its 
adoption continued to grow. Many important clinical 
papers on noninvasive central blood pressure assessment 
were published during the year. these continue to support 
our clinical adoption focus on patient risk stratification 
and therapeutic hypertension management. the two most 
influential contributors to clinical up-take were the Strong 
Heart paper, which provided clinicians with a specific 
metric of risk on managing patients; and the exposition 
on how SphygmoCor is applied in clinical practice 
at the Mayo Clinic.

 − In May and June, AtCor received two important 
coverage decisions in the State of Michigan. two different 
Administrative law Judges for the Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services ruled that SphygmoCor was 
effective and necessary to treat patients with complex 
cases of hypertension. the judges ruled that the local 
Medicare provider must cover use of SphygmoCor during 
those patients’ assessments. As part of his ruling, one 
judge found that “a growing body of scholarship in the field 
of medicine establishes that SphygmoCor is both safe and 
effective, is generally accepted by the medical community 
and is supported by sound medical evidence based on 
scientific data or research studies published in peer 
reviewed medical journals worldwide”.

 − to further strengthen our growth in uS clinical practice, 
AtCor established customer advisory groups of key opinion 
leaders from the cardiology and nephrology (kidney) 
communities. their insight, advocacy and influence will 
be vitally important as we move from local State based 
coverage decisions to a national current procedural 
terminology (Cpt) filing. 

 − In April, SphygmoCor launched its second-generation 
platform EM3 Version 9 to the clinician market. Its 
benefits include real-time operator technique feedback 
and automatic capture of test results, making it easier 
for clinicians to obtain and display cardiovascular data.

 − Work continued on differentiated applications 
of SphygmoCor technology in areas such as cardiac 
resynchronisation therapy (CRt) optimisation (benefits 
patients with pacemakers) and applications in maternal 
pre-eclampsia. We will report more about these important 
developments in the coming year.
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SphygmoCor is well positioned to play a vital role 
as exploding healthcare costs shift industry focus 
to disease prevention

Sales by financial year
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TrENdS iN SupporT oF grEATEr MArkET 
AdopTioN 
A large part of uS healthcare reform was based on the need 
to move to earlier-stage therapies as managing later-stage 
disease continues to prove to be economically un-sustainable. 
In developing markets, such as India, where prevalent 
cardiovascular disease (CVD) related risk is well established, 
we are seeing early clinical adoption of SphygmoCor. 
Governments understand that they need to treat disease 
in the curable and manageable stage. 

In the uS, costs of managing end-stage disease and, 
in particular CVD, are staggering. Currently the uS healthcare 
system is burdened with over uS$500 billion per year in CVD 
related direct costs. A small fraction goes to prevention and 
wellness. the indirect CVD related cost to the uS economy 
from lost productivity is nearly uS$200 billion per year. 

there are specific hurdles that new (non-replacement) 
technology must pass to be adopted in this system. 
SphygmoCor ticks the box on all key criteria. 

Compelling economics

Easy to use

Immediate data at point of care

Identifies risk early

Portable, rapid

Accurate, sensitive, reproducible

Non-invasive, safe

Low cost  

Clinical evidence

A number of important papers joined the list of over 400 peer-
reviewed publications and hundreds of medical literature citations 
that support use of SphygmoCor. Four stand out. two papers 
resulted from the national Institutes of Health (nIH)-funded 
Strong Heart Study. One showed that the risk of a cardiovascular 
event increased sharply when central pulse pressure exceeded 
50 mm Hg, with no such threshold value for traditional 
(brachial) cuff blood pressure; the second showed that central 
blood pressure was a superior determinant of left ventricular 
hypertrophy, or thickening of the heart wall that results from 
overload. Another paper used central pressure assessment 
to assist prediction of pre-eclampsia in pregnancy. Finally, a 
comprehensive review paper on central pressure measurement 
in the journal, Mayo Clinic proceedings, highlighted the use of 
SphygmoCor in patient management at the Mayo Clinic.

there were also important poster presentations at the American 
Heart Association and American College of Cardiology scientific 
meetings in november 2009 and March 2010. Both highlighted 
the importance of central blood pressure assessment in the 
African American population. this group faces a true epidemic 
of hypertension, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. the 
first presentation found that African Americans have greater 
systemic arterial stiffness compared to Caucasians, irrespective 
of risk factor burden, and stated that standard CV risk scores 
may underestimate vascular risk in African Americans. the 
second presentation showed differing central blood pressure 
reductions between two African American patient groups 
treated with different antihypertensive regimens, despite similar 
reductions in brachial blood pressure across both groups. this 
finding is significant because it points, yet again, to a potentially 
beneficial therapeutic intervention that may not be fully identified 
(or pursued) if only brachial blood pressure is assessed and 
managed. It also comes at a time when the uS healthcare 
system is focusing on ways to eliminate racial and ethnic 
disparities. Many more papers are expected in the coming year.

Facilitating technology adoption between regulatory, 
medical and pharmaceutical communities

Over the past two years, AtCor has held a number of 
educational meetings with members of the regulatory, medical 
and pharmaceutical communities. these included many 
of the participants in north American Artery’s joint meeting 
in Bethesda, Maryland “Central Blood pressure Measurement 
Forum – An Opportunity for Efficacy and Safety in Clinical 
trials and Drug Development?” held on April 7, 2010. the 
purpose of this meeting – between academia, pharma 
industry leaders, medical technology companies and the uS 
FDA – was to assess the potential involvement of central blood 
pressure measurement in an expanded role during drug trials. 
Specifically, this explored interest in FDA’s insights on the use 
of central pressure as a biomarker. the proceedings of this 
meeting are expected to be published soon in a peer-reviewed 
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CEO’s report
continued

journal. Most importantly, the FDA representative in attendance 
stated that pharmaceutical companies are welcome to provide 
central blood pressure safety data with new drug filings, 
rather than wait for guidance or mandate from the FDA. 

SuSTAiNiNg ANd growiNg ATCor MEdiCAl’S 
lEAdErSHip poSiTioN

Translating trends to actionable results

As AtCor continues to translate favourable trends into actionable 
results, it is our strategic intent to build not only a self-sustaining 
business, but also develop and grow with sufficient products, 
services and scale to compete in the broad cardiovascular disease 
and physiological wave-form analysis markets. to accomplish 
this, we continue to focus and invest in the following initiatives.

Clinical adoption

During FY2010, appreciation of the clinical use of central 
pressure has grown, largely as a result of significant 
publications and the translation of that evidence to market 
through the actionable results of our commercial team. 
this was evidenced by a 43% increase in uS clinical revenue. 
As noted above, our reimbursement efforts were bolstered 
in FY2010 when two Administrative law Judges ruled that 
Medicare should pay disputed charges in two complex 
hypertension management cases. these rulings not only 
afford us an opportunity to accelerate our efforts in Michigan 
and throughout this multistate Medicare carrier coverage 
area, but will strengthen our ability with other Medicare and 
non-Medicare providers to gain reimbursement. this process 
has optimised the model for these efforts. 

In addition to our successes with Medicare, several private 
plans started reimbursing clinical practices using the unlisted 
(miscellaneous) cardiovascular services code. With the growth 
of new clinical users, many have written to their cardiology or 
nephrology societies requesting a specific Category I Cpt code for 
measuring central blood pressure. AtCor and its Cpt advisors have 
been strategically meeting with and educating key staff at these 
societies and key opinion leaders on evidence and adoption trends. 
these important initiatives are continuing and, hopefully, will lead 
to filing for a national Cpt code as early as november 2010.

Technology leadership through product development

At AtCor Medical, we are careful to protect our market 
leadership position. We see ourselves as stewards of sound 
scientific advancement in the field that we pioneered. During 
FY2010 we introduced new SphygmoCor software including 
‘auto capture’ for ease of use; and an enhanced clinical data 
screen to assist physicians in applying the latest scientific 
developments, such as the findings of the Strong Heart Study, 
to patient care. this product was developed in close consultation 
with our clinical customers and has been very well received, not 
only by clinicians but also by our pharmaceutical and research 

customers. looking to the future, AtCor will continue to increase 
its investment in product development in 2011. 

We continued to strengthen our development team, and 
in March 2010 appointed as its leader an industry veteran 
with a strong track record of accomplishment. A better balance 
between outsourcing and internal resources is expected 
to greatly reduce the time taken to bring to market the 
substantial projects in our pipeline.

the investments being made in both hardware and software 
will significantly enhance ease of use and result interpretation 
for both operators and physicians. In turn, this will contribute 
to improvement of the overall delivery of care and the 
patient experience, expanding our ability to penetrate the 
uS$2.1 billion global market with our products and services. 

Enhancing our position and accelerating growth in the 
pharmaceutical sector

Currently, AtCor has captured approximately 5% of the annual 
uS$100 million pharmaceutical trials market. AtCor continues 
to receive industry accolades for its services to these important 
customers. Here, protocol compliance and data quality are of 
paramount importance, and our performance in managing these 
studies is well above benchmark. During the past year as trial 
sites geographically grew to include Asia and South America, 
we expanded our pharmaceutical trial team internationally to 
provide even higher standards of customer care. We also aligned 
sales and operational reporting into Chicago. Combined, this has 
created a seamless support structure across geographies and 
time zones which leverages and standardises best practices and 
further differentiates our offering to the pharmaceutical sector. 

partnering and strategic alliance opportunities

the increased adoption of central pressures as a measurement 
tool has increased the interest of larger players with related 
or complementary technologies. this includes both our core 
hypertension management application and differentiated 
applications, such as pacemaker optimisation. During FY2010, 
AtCor commenced working with a strategic supplier on next 
generation technology to speed our product development efforts.

the 32 dedicated professionals of AtCor Medical are focused, 
energised and driving the business to achieve its full potential. 
We will look forward to keeping you informed of our progress 
in what we expect will be a very good year for our business. 
thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

duncan r. ross

Chicago, Illinois uSA 
19 August, 2010
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Annual financial report 2010 
this financial report covers both AtCor Medical Holdings limited as an individual entity and the 
consolidated entity consisting of AtCor Medical Holdings limited and its subsidiaries. the financial report 
is presented in the Australian currency.

AtCor Medical Holdings limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business is: 
Suite 11, 1059-1063 Victoria Road 
West Ryde nSW 2114

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included 
in the CEO’s report and activities on pages 4 to 6 and in the directors’ report on pages 8 to 20.

the financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 19 August 2010. the company has the 
power to amend and reissue the financial report.

through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, 
and available globally at minimum cost to the company. All press releases, financial reports and other 
information are available at our Investors section on our website: www.atcormedical.com.
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Directors’ report

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity 
(referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, 
or during, the year ended 30 June 2010.

dirECTorS
the following persons were directors of AtCor Medical Holdings 
limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

 − D O’Dwyer
 − D.R Ross
 − M.F O’Rourke
 − p.R Jenkins
 − D.l Brookes 

priNCipAl ACTiviTiES
During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group 
consisted of designing, manufacturing and marketing medical 
devices for use in cardiovascular management.

dividENdS ATCor MEdiCAl HoldiNgS liMiTEd
no dividend was paid during the financial year and the directors 
do not recommend payment of a dividend.

rEviEw oF opErATioNS
the Group recorded sales of devices and services to hospitals, 
research institutions, pharmaceutical companies and clinicians 
during the year of $9,198,496 (2009: $11,209,113). the 
loss for the year after income tax amounted to $1,220,057 
(2009: $1,691,433). Further information on the operations 
and financial position of the Group and its business strategies 
and prospects is set out in the CEO’s report on pages 4-6 
of this annual report.

SigNiFiCANT CHANgES iN THE STATE oF AFFAirS
there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Group during the financial year.

MATTErS SubSEquENT To THE ENd oF THE 
FiNANCiAl YEAr
no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 
2010 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:
a. the Group’s operations in future financial years, or
b. the results of those operations in future financial years, or
c. the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

likElY dEvElopMENTS ANd ExpECTEd rESulTS 
oF opErATioNS
Further information on likely developments in the operations of 
the Group and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this annual financial report because the directors 
believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to 
the Group.

ENviroNMENTAl rEgulATioN
the Group is not subject to any specific environmental 
legislation or regulations.

iNForMATioN oN dirECTorS

donal o’dwyer
bEng, MbA. Chairman independent non executive. Age 57.

Experience and expertise
Independent director of the Group since September 2004 
and chairman since november 2004. Extensive experience 
in the cardiovascular sector. prior to joining the AtCor 
Board he was worldwide president of Cordis Cardiology, 
the cardiology division of Johnson & Johnson.

other current directorships
non-executive director for 3 other listed public companies: 
Cochlear ltd, Mesoblast ltd and Sunshine Heart Inc.

Former directorships in last 3 years
none

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Board
Member of audit committee
Member of remuneration committee

interests in shares and options
Direct:  400,000 options over ordinary shares 

in AtCor Medical Holdings limited
Indirect:  1,940,012 ordinary shares in AtCor 

Medical Holdings limited

duncan r. ross
bS Managing director and CEo. Age 52

Experience and expertise
Executive director of the Group since november 2006. 
26 years in life sciences and medical device industry. 
Most recently Group president Fisher Scientific Inc and 
Apogent technologies Inc prior to joining AtCor Medical.

other current directorships
none

Former directorships in last 3 years
none

Special responsibilities
CEO

interests in shares and options
Direct:  992,000 ordinary shares in AtCor 

Medical Holdings limited
   4,500,000 options over ordinary shares 

in AtCor Medical Holdings limited
Indirect: nil
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dr Michael o’rourke, AM
Md, dSc Non-executive director. Age 73.

Experience and expertise
Co-founder and inventor of the core technology for the 
SphygmoCor system. Co-author of the standard reference 
textbook McDonald’s Blood Flow in Arteries. He also serves 
on the editorial Boards for the American Heart Association 
journal Hypertension, and on the editorial Boards of Journal 
of Hypertension, American Journal of Hypertension and 
Journal of American Society of Hypertension.

other current directorships
Victor Chang Foundation

Former directorships in last 3 years
none

Special responsibilities
Medical consultant

interests in shares and options
Direct:  200,000 options over ordinary shares 

in AtCor Medical Holdings limited
Indirect:  9,565,788 ordinary shares in AtCor 

Medical Holdings limited

peter Jenkins
dSc (honorary) independent non executive director. 
Age 75.

Experience and expertise
Has served on the AtCor Group’s Board since 2000, including 
4 years as chairman. Consultant to Colonial First State private 
Equity until his retirement in December 2005.

other current directorships
non-executive director of Queensland BioCapital Funds ltd

Former directorships in last 3 years
non-executive director of Access Macquarie ltd
Chair of Science and technology Advisory Board 
Macquarie university

Special responsibilities
Chair of remuneration committee
Member of audit committee

interests in shares and options
Direct:  893,766 ordinary shares in AtCor 

Medical Holdings limited
   200,000 options over ordinary shares 

in AtCor Medical Holdings limited

dr david brookes
MbbS FACrrM independent non executive director. 
Age 50.

Experience and expertise
Independent director for the Group since november 2008. 
A Fellow of the Australian College of Rural and Remote 
Medicine. He currently works as a general medical practitioner 
and has extensive experience in rural Australia, especially 
in paediatric and procedural practice.

other current directorships
non-executive director of living Cell technologies since 
August 2007 (Chairman from September 2009), and Chairman 
of Innovance ltd (listed on the national Stock Exchange).

Former directorships in last 3 years
none

Special responsibilities
Chair of audit committee
Member of remuneration committee

interests in shares and options
Direct:  200,000 options over ordinary shares 

in AtCor Medical Holdings limited
Indirect:  500,000 ordinary shares in AtCor 

Medical Holdings limited

CoMpANY SECrETArY
the company secretary is peter Manley (BBus, CpA, ACIS). peter 
was appointed to the position of company secretary in March 
2005. He also holds the position of Chief Financial Officer. Before 
joining AtCor Medical Holdings limited he was Company Secretary 
and CFO for Sirtex Medical ltd, a publicly listed medical device 
company. prior to this he has held financial positions in a variety of 
large Australian and foreign-owned corporations.

rETirEMENT, ElECTioN ANd CoNTiNuATioN 
iN oFFiCE oF dirECTorS
D O’Dwyer retired by rotation as a director and was re-elected 
on 21 October 2009.

p.R Jenkins retired by rotation as a director and was re-elected 
on 21 October 2009.
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Directors’ report
continued

rEMuNErATioN rEporT
the remuneration report is set out under the following 
main headings:
A  principles used to determine the nature and amount 

of remuneration
B Details of remuneration
C Service agreements
D Share based compensation
E Additional information.

the information provided under headings A E includes 
remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting 
Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. these 
disclosures have been transferred from the financial report 
and have been audited. 

A. principles used to determine the nature 
and amount of remuneration

the objective of the Group’s executive reward framework 
is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. the framework aligns 
executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives 
and the creation of value for shareholders. the Board ensures 
that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for 
good reward governance practices:

 − competitiveness and reasonableness
 − acceptability to shareholders
 − performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation
 − transparency
 − capital management.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests:
 − has company growth as a core component of plan design
 − focuses on sustained long-term growth in shareholder 

wealth
 − attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Alignment to program participants’ interests:
 − rewards capability and experience
 − reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth 

in company value
 − provides a clear structure for earning rewards
 − provides recognition for contribution.

the framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, 
and a blend of short and long-term incentives. As executives 
gain seniority with the group, the balance of this mix shifts 
to a higher proportion of “at risk” rewards.

Non executive directors
Fees and payments to non executive directors reflect the 
demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, 
the directors. non executive directors’ fees and payments 
are reviewed annually by the Board. the Board also refers 
to external surveys to ensure non executive directors’ fees 
and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. 
the Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the 
fees of non executive directors based on comparative roles 
in the external market. the Chairman is not present at any 
discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration. 
non executive directors are entitled to receive share options, 
following approval by the shareholders of AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited. Options were offered to non-executive 
directors during the reporting period, following approval 
at the 2009 AGM.

directors’ fees
the current base remuneration was last adjusted with effect 
from 1 January 2009. Fees are inclusive of committee fees.

MEETiNgS oF dirECTorS
the numbers of meetings of the company’s Board of directors and of each Board committee held during the year ended 
30 June 2010, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Full meetings 
of directors

Meetings of 
non‑executive directors

Meetings of committees

Audit Remuneration

A B A B A B A B

D O’Dwyer (chairman) 9 9 9 9 2 2 2 2

D.R Ross (CEO) 9 9 * * ** ** ** **

M O’Rourke 9 9 8 9 ** ** ** **

p.R Jenkins 9 9 9 9 2 2 2 2

D.l Brookes 9 9 9 9 2 2 2 2

A = number of meetings attended
B = number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year
* = not a non executive director
** = not a member of the relevant committee
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non executive directors’ fees are determined within an 
aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically 
recommended for approval by shareholders. the pool currently 
stands at $260,000, excluding share-based payments that are 
subject to separate shareholder approval.

Executive pay
the executive pay and reward framework has four components:

 − base pay and benefits
 − short-term performance incentives
 − long-term incentives through participation in the AtCor 

Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan, and
 − other remuneration such as superannuation.

the combination of these comprises the executive’s total 
remuneration. 

base pay
Structured as a total employment cost package which may 
be delivered as a combination of cash and prescribed non 
financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises 
the fixed component of pay and rewards. External remuneration 
advisors provide ad hoc advice to ensure base pay is set to 
reflect the market for a comparable role. Base pay for senior 
executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay 
is competitive with the market. An executive’s pay is also 
reviewed on promotion.

there are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any 
senior executives’ contracts.

benefits
Executives receive benefits that may include health insurance 
and car allowances.

retirement benefits
Statutory superannuation payments are made quarterly 
to a fund selected by Australian based executives. Executives 
may also elect to salary sacrifice additional payments to their 
fund. no other retirement benefits are offered.

Short-term incentives
Each executive has a target short-term incentive (StI) 
opportunity depending on the accountabilities of the role and 
impact on the organisation or business unit performance.

Each year, the remuneration committee considers the 
appropriate targets and performance management objectives 
(pMOs) to link the StI plan and the level of payout if targets 
are met. this includes setting any maximum payout under 
the StI plan, and minimum levels of performance to trigger 
payment of StI.

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the pMOs linked to StI 
plans were based on group, individual business and personal 
objectives. the pMOs required performance in growing 
sales revenue, managing operating expenses and cash, and 
achieving specific targets in relation to project advancement, 
as well as other key, strategic non financial measures 
linked to drivers of performance in future reporting periods. 
these pMOs are specific to each of the senior executives.

the remuneration committee is responsible for assessing 
whether the pMOs are met. to help make this assessment, 
the committee receives detailed reports on performance 
from management.

the short-term bonus payments may be adjusted up 
or down in line with under or over achievement against the 
target performance levels. this is at the discretion of the 
remuneration committee.

the StI target annual payment is reviewed annually.

AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share option plan
Information on the AtCor Medical Holdings Share Option plan 
is set out on pages 14-18.

b. details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key 
management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures ) of AtCor Medical Holdings limited and the Group 
are set out in the following tables.

the key management personnel of the Group are the directors 
of AtCor Medical Holdings limited (see pages 8-9 above) and 
those executives that report directly to the CEO or who have 
authority to significantly influence the direction of the Group. 
the executives are:

 − peter Manley, Chief Financial Officer
 − Douglas Kurschinski, Senior Vice President US Commercial 

Operations (AtCor Medical Inc)
 − Mark Harding, International Sales & Marketing Director 

(AtCor Medical Pty Ltd)

the cash bonuses are dependent on the satisfaction 
of performance conditions as set out in the section headed 
Short-term incentives above. Options and bonuses are granted 
at the discretion of the Board, on recommendation from the 
remuneration committee. Other elements of remuneration 
are not directly related to performance.

D Ross and D Kurschinski are paid in uSD as uS-based 
executives. Decreases in base pay and non-monetary benefits 
are largely attributable to the stronger AuD against the uSD 
through FY10 (Ave rate FY10: 0.8748, FY09: 0.7398)
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Directors’ report
continued

key management personnel of the group

Short-term employee benefits post employment benefits
Share based 

payment

2010

Cash 
salary and 

fees
$

Cash 
bonus

$

Non 
monetary 

benefits
$

Super- 
annuation

$

Termination 
benefits

$
Options

$
Total

$

Non executive directors

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 100,917 – – 9,083 – 16,441 126,441

M O’Rourke 22,936 – – 2,064 – 8,220 33,220

p.R Jenkins 55,459 – – 4,541 – 8,220 68,220

D.l Brookes 55,046 – – 4,954 – 8,220 68,220

Sub total non executive directors 234,358 – – 20,642 – 41,101 296,101

Executive directors

 D.R Ross (CEO) 342,571 88,026 15,880 – – 44,633 491,110

other key management personnel

p Manley 162,066 16,924 21,599 13,969 – 12,436 226,994

D Kurschinski 250,384 85,979 15,938 – – 26,582 378,883

M Harding 193,000 14,208 – 25,000 – 10,991 243,199

Totals 1,182,379 205,137 53,417 59,611 – 135,743 1,636,287

Short-term employee benefits post employment benefits
Share based 

payment

2009

Cash 
salary and 

fees
$

Cash 
bonus

$

Non 
monetary 

benefits
$

Super- 
annuation

$

Termination 
benefits

$
Options

$
Total

$

Non executive directors

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 85,459 – – 7,691 – – 93,150

M O’Rourke 21,468 – – 1,932 – – 23,400

p.R Jenkins 52,523 – – 4,727 – – 57,250

D.l Brookes (appointed 4 nov 08) 35,856 – – 3,227 – – 39,083

l.E McIntyre (retired 4 nov 08) 16,667 – – 1,500 – – 18,167

Sub total non executive directors 211,973 – – 19,077 – – 231,050

Executive directors

 D.R Ross (CEO) 407,015 234,612 17,976 – – 69,194 728,797

other key management personnel

p Manley 162,763 43,488 27,743 13,480 – 16,775 264,249

D Kurschinski 297,507 185,972 16,917 – – 34,071 534,467

M Harding (appointed 8 Sep 08) 125,335 47,843 – 45,141 – 9,071 227,390

Totals 1,204,593 511,915 62,636 77,698 – 129,111 1,985,953
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the relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk – STi At risk – lTi

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Non executive directors

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 87% 100% – – 13% –

M O’Rourke 75% 100% – – 25% –

p Jenkins 88% 100% – – 12% –

l McIntyre (retired 4 nov 08) – 100% – – –

D Brookes (appointed 4 nov 08) 88% 100% – – 12% –

Executive directors

 D R Ross (CEO) 73% 58% 18% 33% 9% 9%

other key management personnel

p Manley 87% 77% 8% 17% 5% 6%

D Kurschinski 70% 59% 23% 35% 7% 6%

M Harding 90% 75% 6% 21% 4% 4%

C. Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the CEO 
and the other key management personnel are formalised in 
employment agreements. Each of these agreements provide 
for the provision of performance related cash bonuses, other 
benefits including health insurance and car allowances, and 
participation, when eligible, in the AtCor Medical Holdings 
Employee Share Option plan. Other major provisions of the 
agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

All contracts with executives may be terminated early by either 
party with variable notice periods, subject to termination 
payments as detailed below.

d r ross, CEo
 − term of agreement – permanent. Commenced 8 May 2006
 − Base salary, inclusive of health benefits, for the year ended 

30 June 2010 of uS$314,290, to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee.

 − Relocation costs of uS$50,000 remain payable upon 
Mr Ross’ relocation from Dubuque, IA to Chicago, Il.

 − payment of a termination benefit on early termination by 
the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal to the 
1 year’s base salary for the remaining term of the agreement 
if termination occurs within 12 months of the start date, 
or 6 months if more than 12 months of the start date.

In the event of a significant change in duties, material diminution 
in status or responsibilities, or Mr Ross is required to relocate 
more than 40 miles from his employment location, a 90-day 
option to exercise termination is available with payment equal 
to 1 year’s base salary.

p Manley, Chief Financial officer
 − term of agreement – permanent. Commenced 

28 February 2005
 − Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 

30 June 2010 of $200,262, to be reviewed annually by the 
remuneration committee.

 − payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the 
Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal to the 
1 month base salary for the remaining term of the agreement.

d kurschinski, Senior vice president uS Commercial 
operations, AtCor Medical inc. 

 − term of agreement – permanent. Commenced 12 April 2004
 − Base salary, inclusive of health benefits, for the year ended 

30 June 2010 of uS$232,480, to be reviewed annually 
by the remuneration committee.

 − payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the 
Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal to 1 month’s 
base salary for the remaining term of the agreement. In the 
event of a change in control and if termination occurs within 
90 days of the change of control payment of a termination 
benefit of equal to 6 month’s base salary is payable.

M Harding, international Sales & Marketing director, 
AtCor Medical pty ltd. 

 − term of agreement – permanent. Commenced 
8 September 2008

 − Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 of $218,000, to be reviewed 
annually by the remuneration committee.

 − payment of a termination benefit on early termination 
by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal 
to the 2 months base salary for the remaining term 
of the agreement.
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Directors’ report
continued

d. Share based compensation 

options
Options are granted under the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan, which was approved by shareholders at the 
1 november 2005 annual general meeting and amended at the 9 november 2006 AGM and 4 november 2008 AGM. All staff 
are eligible to participate in the plan (including executive directors). Options are granted at the discretion of the Board based 
on recommendations from the remuneration committee.

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration. Options are granted for a 5 year period, and one third of each new 
tranche vests and is exercisable after each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant. 

the terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods 
are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price
Value per option at 

grant date Date exercisable

9 nov 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 $0.22 9 nov 2006

9 nov 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 $0.24 9 nov 2007

9 nov 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 $0.26 9 nov 2008

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 $0.06 8 May 2007

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 $0.07 8 May 2008

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 $0.08 8 May 2009

22 Sep 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 $0.03 22 Sep 2007

22 Sep 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 $0.03 22 Sep 2008

22 Sep 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 $0.04 22 Sep 2009

14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 $0.03 14 Dec 2007

14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 $0.04 14 Dec 2008

14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 $0.05 14 Dec 2009

22 Aug 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 $0.05 22 Aug 2008

22 Aug 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 $0.06 22 Aug 2009

22 Aug 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 $0.06 22 Aug 2010

14 nov 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 $0.04 14 nov 2008

14 nov 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 $0.04 14 nov 2009

14 nov 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 $0.05 14 nov 2010

22 Aug 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 $0.06 22 Aug 2009

22 Aug 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 $0.06 22 Aug 2010

22 Aug 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 $0.06 22 Aug 2011

4 nov 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 $0.06 4 nov 2009

4 nov 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 $0.06 4 nov 2010

4 nov 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 $0.07 4 nov 2011

20 Aug 2009 20 Aug 2014 $0.165 $0.07 20 Aug 2010

20 Aug 2009 20 Aug 2014 $0.165 $0.07 20 Aug 2011

20 Aug 2009 20 Aug 2014 $0.165 $0.08 20 Aug 2012

21 Oct 2009 21 Oct 2013 $0.215 $0.06 21 Oct 2010

18 Feb 2010 18 Feb 2015 $0.164 $0.07 18 Feb 2011

18 Feb 2010 18 Feb 2015 $0.164 $0.08 18 Feb 2012

18 Feb 2010 18 Feb 2015 $0.164 $0.08 18 Feb 2013

1 Mar 2010 1 Mar 2015 $0.164 $0.06 1 Mar 2011

1 Mar 2010 1 Mar 2015 $0.164 $0.07 1 Mar 2012

1 Mar 2010 1 Mar 2015 $0.164 $0.07 1 Mar 2013
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Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share within ten days following the receipt of exercise notice, 
payment and the original option certificate.

the exercise price of options is to be no less than the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the 
Australian Securities Exchange during the five trading days immediately before the options are granted.

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director of AtCor Medical Holdings limited 
and each of the key management personnel of the Group are set out below. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one 
ordinary share of AtCor Medical Holdings limited. Further information on the options is set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

options granted to directors and other key management personnel under the Employee Share option plan 
since 30 June 2010
no options have been granted in the period from 30 June 2010 to the date of this report. 

details of option values 
the numbers of options to purchase ordinary shares held as at the date of this report by each Director of AtCor Medical Holdings 
and each of the other key management personnel are listed below. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary 
share of AtCor Medical Holdings

Financial year 
granted # of securities Exercise price Expiration date

Vested and 
exercisable at end 

of financial year

directors

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 2010 400,000 $0.215 21 oct 13 –

D R Ross (CEO) 2006 2,000,000 $0.50 8 May 11 2,000,000

2008 1,000,000 $0.15 14 nov 12 666,667

2009 1,500,000 $0.13 4 nov 13 500,000

M O’Rourke 2010 200,000 $0.215 21 oct 13 –

p Jenkins 2010 200,000 $0.215 21 oct 13 –

D Brookes 2010 200,000 $0.215 21 oct 13 –

other executives

p. Manley 2006 500,000 $0.50 9 nov 10 500,000

2008 200,000 $0.15 22 Aug 12 133,334

2009 325,000 $0.13 4 nov 13 108,334

2010 150,000 $0.164 18 Feb 15 –

D Kurschinski 2007 575,000 $0.50 22 Sep 11 575,000

2008 600,000 $0.15 22 Aug 12 400,000

2009 300,000 $0.12 22 Aug 13 100,000

2009 425,000 $0.13 4 nov 13 141,667

2010 250,000 $0.164 18 Feb 15 –

M Harding 2009 300,000 $0.12 22 Aug 13 100,000

2010 400,000 $0.165 20 Aug 14 –

the assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period from grant date 
to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above. Fair values at grant date are determined using 
a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, 
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option.
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Directors’ report
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the model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 included:
a. options are granted for no consideration, one third of each tranche vests and is exercisable after each of the first 

3 anniversaries of the date of grant
b. ave exercise price: $0.19 (2009: $0.13)
c. expiry date: 4 & 5 years from grant date (2009: 5 years from grant date)
d. weighted average share price at grant date: $0.17 (2009: $0.13)
e. expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 60% (2009: 60%)
f. expected dividend yield: nil% (2009: nil%)
g. risk free interest rate: 5.00% (2009: 5.76%).

Shares provided on exercise of remuneration options
no ordinary shares in the company were provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options for any director of AtCor 
Medical Holdings limited or other key management personnel of the Group in current or previous financial years.

no amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on the exercise of options.

E. Additional information 

principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration 
and company performance
A bonus structure is used to reward executives for performance against short term (current year) Group and personal goals. 
longer term company performance is ensured through participation by executives in the company share option plan.

details of remuneration: cash bonuses and options
For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on pages 16 and 17, the percentage of the available bonus or grant 
that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the 
service and performance criteria is set out below. no part of the bonus is payable in future years. the options vest in three equal 
tranches over 3 years, provided the beneficiary is still employed by the Group at the time of vesting. no options will vest if this 
condition is not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the option yet to vest is nil.

Cash bonus options

Paid
%

Forfeited
%

Financial year 
granted

Vested
%

Forfeited
%

Financial 
years in which 

options may vest

Minimum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

Maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

D O’Dwyer – – 2010 – – 2011 – 7,372

p Jenkins – – 2010 – – 2011 – 3,686

M O’Rourke – – 2010 – – 2011 – 3,686

D Brookes – – 2010 – – 2011 – 3,686

D R Ross (CEO) 42 58 2006 100%
100%
100%

–
–
–

2007
2008
2009

–
–
–

–
–
–

2008 100%
100%

–

–
–
–

2009
2010
2011

–
–
–

–
–

2,008

2009 100%
–
–

–
–
–

2010
2011
2012

–
–
–

–
5,393

14,822
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Cash bonus options

Paid
%

Forfeited
%

Financial year 
granted

Vested
%

Forfeited
%

Financial 
years in which 

options may vest

Minimum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

Maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

p Manley 42 58 2006 100%
100%
100%

–
–
–

2007
2008
2009

–
–
–

–
–
–

2008 100%
100%

–

–
–
–

2009
2010
2011

–
–
–

–
–

202

2009 100%
–
–

–
–
–

2010
2011
2012

–
–
–

–
1,169
3,211

2010 –
–
–

–
–
–

2011
2012
2013

–
–
–

2,625
3,621
4,134

D Kurschinski 73 27 2007 100%
100%
100%

–
–
–

2008
2009
2010

–
–
–

–
–
–

2008 100%
100%

–

–
–
–

2009
2010
2011

–
–
–

–
–

605

2009 100%
–
–

–
–
–

2010
2011
2012

–
–
–

–
432

2,418

2009 100%
–
–

–
–
–

2010
2011
2012

–
–
–

–
1,528
4,200

2010 –
–
–

–
–
–

2011
2012
2013

–
–
–

4,375
6,035
6,891

M Harding 20 80 2009 100%
–
–

–
–
–

2010
2011
2012

–
–
–

–
432

2,418

2010 –
–
–

–
–
–

2011
2012
2013

–
–
–

431
1,897
2,532



18

 A
TC

o
r 

M
Ed

iC
Al

 H
o

ld
iN

gS
 l

iM
iT

Ed

Directors’ report
continued

Share based compensation: options
Further details relating to options are set out below:

A b C d E

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options

Value at grant 
date

$

Value at 
exercise date

$

Value at lapse 
date

$

Total of 
columns B–D

$

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 13% 16,441 – – 16,441

D R Ross (CEO) 9% 44,633 – – 44,633

M O’Rourke 25% 8,220 – – 8,220

p Jenkins 12% 8,220 – – 8,220

D Brookes 12% 8,220 – – 8,220

p Manley 5% 12,436 – – 12,436

D Kurschinski 7% 26,582 – – 26,582

M Harding 8% 21,198 – – 21,198

A = the percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value at grant date set out in column B.
B = the value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share based Payment of options granted as part of remuneration.
C = the value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the year.
D = the value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.

SHArES uNdEr opTioN
unissued ordinary shares of AtCor Medical Holdings limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date options granted Expiry date
Issue price 

of shares
Number 

under option

9 november 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 500,000

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 2,000,000

22 September 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 1,345,000

14 December 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 500,000

22 August 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 2,175,000

14 november 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 1,000,000

22 August 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 1,500,000

4 november 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 3,220,000

20 August 2009 20 Aug 2014 $0.165 400,000

21 October 2009 21 Oct 2013 $0.215 1,000,000

18 February 2010 18 Feb 2015 $0.164 625,000

1 March 2010 1 Mar 2015 $0.164 150,000

14,415,000

no option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the company or any other entity.

Shares issued on the exercise of options

391,667 ordinary shares of AtCor Medical Holdings limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2010 on the exercise 
of options granted under the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan. no further shares have been issued since 
that date. no amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.

loans to directors and executives

no loans were receivable from directors at 30 June 2010. Information on loan to directors and executives, including amounts, 
interest rates and repayment terms are set out in note 21 to the accounts.
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Transaction with directors

A director, M O’Rourke, provides consulting services 
to the Group as a medical advisor, for which he receives 
a monthly retainer. this agreement is based on normal 
commercial terms and conditions. the amount paid for the 
year ended 30 June 2010 is $167,740 (2009:159,712).

insurance of officers

During the financial year, AtCor Medical Holdings limited paid 
a premium of $17,095 to insure the director and secretaries 
of the company and its Australian based controlled entities, 
and the general managers of each of the divisions of the Group. 

the liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred 
in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought 
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities 
in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities 
incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. 
this does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper 
use by the officers of their position or of information to gain 
advantage for them or someone else or to cause detriment 
to the company. It is not possible to apportion the premium 
between amounts relating to the insurance against legal 
costs and those relating to other liabilities.

proceedings on behalf of the company

no person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the 
company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

no proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf 
of the company with leave of the Court under section 237 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

Non audit services

the company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments 
additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the company and/or the 
Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
(pricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.

the Board of directors has considered the position and, in 
accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, 
is satisfied that the provision of the non audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. the directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non audit services by the 
auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the following reasons:

 − all non audit services have been reviewed by the audit 
committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality 
and objectivity of the auditor;

 − none of the services undermine the general principles 
relating to auditor independence as set out in the relevant 
professional requirements, including reviewing or auditing 
the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
a decision-making capacity for the company, acting 
as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic 
risk and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for 
services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related 
practices and non related audit firms:

Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

Assurance services

1. Audit services

pricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 101,697 93,000

Total remuneration for audit services 101,697 93,000

2. other assurance services

pricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Audit of Commercial Ready grant program 6,695 10,067

Total remuneration for other assurance services 6,695 10,067
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Directors’ report
continued

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
on page 21.

Auditor

pricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with 
section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

this report is made in accordance with a resolution 
of directors.

donal o’dwyer 
Director

Sydney 
19 August 2010



An
n

uA
l 

RE
pO

Rt
 2

01
0

21Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
www.pwc.com/auAuditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of AtCor Medical Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of AtCor Medical Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during the
period.

Mark Dow Sydney
Partner 19 August 2010
PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Corporate governance statement

AtCor Medical Holdings limited (the company) and the Board 
are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest 
standards of corporate governance. the company and its 
controlled entities together are referred to as the Group 
in this statement.

the relationship between the Board and senior management 
is critical to the Group’s long-term success. the directors are 
responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the 
company in both the short and the longer term and seek to 
balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests 
of the Group as a whole. their focus is to enhance the interests 
of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the 
Group is properly managed.

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the 
implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives 
are formally delegated by the Board to the CEO and senior 
executives as set out in the Group’s authorisations policy.

A description of the company’s main corporate governance 
practices is set out below. the Board charter is available 
upon request to shareholders and other interested parties. 
All these practices, unless otherwise stated, were in place 
for the entire year. they comply with the August 2007 
ASX principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 
practice Recommendations.

THE boArd oF dirECTorS
the Board operates in accordance with the broad principles set 
out in its charter. the charter details the Board’s composition 
and responsibilities.

board composition

the composition of the Board is determined with regard to the 
following criteria:

 − the number of directors is limited by Article 6.1(a) of the 
company’s constitution to not less than 3 and not more 
than 12. the Board considers the present complement 
of 5 directors (including the Chief Executive Officer) 
is appropriate and therefore casual vacancies shall be 
filled as and when they arise to maintain this complement.

 − the Chairman of the Board will be an independent director.
 − the Board will comprise a majority of non-executive 

directors.
 − the Board requires directors to have a broad range of 

commercial expertise and experience and/or appropriate 
professional qualifications that will contribute to Board 
deliberations and decision-making.

 − Board members must have a proven ability and capacity 
to monitor company performance and participate 
in strategy development.

 − the Remuneration & nomination committee will make 
recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration 
and composition of the Board on proposed performance 
review criteria.

responsibilities

the responsibilities of the Board include:
 − ensuring that appropriate controls, systems and 

procedures are in place within AtCor to manage business 
risks and to ensure compliance with all regulatory and 
prudential requirements;

 − reviewing matters of general corporate governance;
 − appointing, assessing the performance assessment of 

and, if necessary, removal of the Chief Executive Officer;
 − ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing 

to the performance assessment for the members of the 
senior management team including the CFO and the 
Company Secretary;

 − overseeing the performance and activities of AtCor 
through agreed goals and strategies, including approving 
the budget, the business plan and compliance policies, 
and monitoring the strategic and financial objectives and 
performance of the group.

 − monitoring the management of AtCor’s business;
 − ensuring appropriate succession planning for the CEO 

and senior executives;
 − approving and monitoring the progress of major capital 

expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and 
divestitures;

 − approving and monitoring financial and other reporting;
 − recommending the appointment, and reviewing the 

performance, of directors; and
 − effectively communicating the Group’s financial position, 

trading performance and prospects to all stakeholders, 
in particular, shareholders, clients and employees.

board members

Details of the members of the Board, their experience, 
expertise, qualifications, term of office and independent 
status are set out in the directors’ report under the heading 
“Information on directors”. there are four non executive 
directors, three of whom are deemed independent under the 
principles set out below and one executive director at the date 
of signing the directors’ report.

directors’ independence

the Board will regularly assess the independence of each 
director with regard to interests disclosed by them.

In assessing independence, a director will be regarded 
as independent if that person is a non-executive director 
and is free from any interest and other business relationship 
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that could materially interfere with that person’s ability to act 
in the best interests of AtCor. particularly, they must not be or 
have been:

 − a substantial shareholder of AtCor or associated with 
a substantial shareholder of AtCor;

 − an executive of AtCor for the last three years;
 − a principal of a material professional advisor or an employee 

of a material service provider for the last three years;
 − a material supplier to or a customer of AtCor or its 

subsidiaries

If one of these relationships exist, either directly or through 
a related party interest, the Board may still consider a director 
to be independent however it must clearly state the reasons 
for this decision in the Annual Report. If the independent 
status of a director is lost this will be disclosed to the market 
immediately.

A substantial shareholding is considered to be more than 5%.

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both 
quantitative and qualitative bases. An amount of over 5% 
of annual turnover of the company or Group or 5% of the 
individual directors’ net worth is considered material for 
these purposes. In addition, a transaction of any amount 
or a relationship is deemed material if knowledge of 
it may impact the shareholders’ understanding of the 
director’s performance.

Non executive directors

the non executive directors met nine times during the year, 
in scheduled sessions without the presence of management, 
to discuss the operation of the Board and a range of other 
matters. Relevant matters arising from these meetings were 
shared with the full Board.

Term of office

the company’s Constitution specifies that all non executive 
directors must retire from office no later than the third 
annual general meeting (AGM) following their last election. 
Any director who retires by rotation may seek re-election 
by shareholders in accordance with the Constitution. In this 
case, while the Board may indicate to shareholders it supports 
the re-election of a director; it will not provide any direct 
or indirect financial encouragement to achieve this end.

Chairman and Chief Executive officer (CEo)

the Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring 
directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their 
role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions, 
monitoring Board performance annually, managing the Board’s 
relationship with the company’s senior executives, and chairing 
shareholder meetings.

the chairman shall be a non-executive director and is elected 
by the directors.

the CEO is responsible for developing and implementing Group 
strategies and policies. the Board charter specifies that these 
are separate roles to be undertaken by separate people.

Commitment

the Board held nine Board meetings during the year. It is 
the Board’s practice to hold those meetings at the company 
premises in West Ryde unless circumstances prevent this 
occurring. Directors based in other locations generally attend 
by phone unless in Sydney at the time of the meeting.

the number of meetings of the company’s Board of directors 
and of each Board committee held during the year ended 
30 June 2010, and the number of meetings attended 
by each director is disclosed on page 10.

It is the company’s practice to allow its executive directors 
to accept appointments outside the company with prior written 
approval of the Board. no appointments of this nature were 
accepted during the year ended 30 June 2010.

the commitments of non executive directors are considered 
by the Board prior to the directors’ appointment to the Board 
of the company.

prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election, 
each non executive director is required to acknowledge 
that they have and will continue to have the time available 
to discharge their responsibilities to the company.

Conflict of interests

Entities connected with Dr O’Rourke had business dealings 
with the consolidated entity during the year, as described 
in note 21 to the financial statements. In accordance with the 
Board charter, the director concerned declared his interests 
in those dealings to the company and took no part in decisions 
relating to them or the preceding discussions.

independent professional advice

Directors and Board committees have the right, in connection 
with their duties and responsibilities, to seek independent 
professional advice at the company’s expense. prior written 
approval of the Chairman is required, or if the director 
is the Chairman then prior written approval of a majority 
of the non-executive directors is required, but this will 
not be unreasonably withheld. 

performance assessment

the Board will meet regularly to review its performance 
and that of its committees and senior executives. At this time, 
it will also review the relationship between the Board and 
management and matters of general corporate governance.
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Corporate governance statement
continued

the Chairman of the Board will review the performance and 
contribution of each non-executive director. the Chairman may, 
at any time or on the recommendation of the Remuneration 
& nomination Committee, request the Board as a whole (other 
than the director concerned) vote on the question of whether 
a particular director should remain on the Board. If the majority 
of directors vote that this director should not remain on the 
Board, they are expected to resign or refrain from standing 
for re-election, whichever is more appropriate.

Corporate reporting

the CEO and CFO have made the following certifications 
to the Board:

 − that the company’s financial reports are complete 
and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, 
of the financial condition and operational results of the 
company and Group and are in accordance with relevant 
accounting standards

 − that the above statement is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal compliance and control 
which implements the policies adopted by the Board 
and that the company’s risk management and internal 
compliance and control is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects.

board committees

the Board has established two committees to assist in the 
execution of its duties and to allow detailed consideration 
of complex issues. Current committees of the Board are 
the remuneration & nomination and audit committees. 
Each is comprised entirely of non executive directors.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its 
role and responsibilities, composition, structure, membership 
requirements and the manner in which the committee is to 
operate. All matters determined by committees are submitted 
to the full Board as recommendations for Board decisions.

rEMuNErATioN ANd NoMiNATioN CoMMiTTEE
the Remuneration and nomination committee consists of the 
following non executive directors:

 − p Jenkins (Chairman)
 − D O’Dwyer
 − D Brookes

the charter requires the committee to consist of at least three 
directors, a majority of whom must be independent directors.

Details of these directors’ attendance at remuneration 
committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report 
on page 10. 

the remuneration committee operates in accordance with its 
charter, which is available on the company website. the role 
of AtCor’s remuneration committee is to ensure the Board 
fulfils its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities 
relating to nominating and remunerating directors and senior 
executives, ensuring the directors and senior management 
are remunerated fairly and responsibly and overseeing the 
remuneration and human resources policies of the Group.

the committee will provide advice and make recommendations 
to the Board in relation to:

 − the remuneration and benefits of directors, CEO and 
members of the senior executive team, consisting of those 
executives reporting to the CEO, including their share 
plans, options or other similar benefit or bonus plans;

 − targets and budgets for AtCor’s financial performance as 
they relate to incentive plans, and the performance-based 
(at risk) components of remuneration;

 − Remuneration policy and any changes to the remuneration 
policy and practices for all employees whose remuneration 
is not determined through Awards or Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreements; and

 − Allocations and terms of offer under all equity-based 
incentive for remuneration plans.

Further information on directors’ and executives’ remuneration 
is set out in the directors’ report under the heading 
“Remuneration report”. 

the committee also assumes responsibility for making 
recommendations regarding Board composition and 
size, criteria for Board membership and evaluating 
Board performance.

AudiT & riSk CoMMiTTEE
the audit committee consists of the following non executive 
directors:

 − D Brookes (Chairman)
 − D O’Dwyer
 − p Jenkins

Details of these directors’ qualifications and attendance at 
audit committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report 
on pages 8-10.

the audit committee has appropriate financial expertise and 
all members have an appropriate understanding of the industry 
in which the Group operates.

the audit committee operates in accordance with a charter, 
which is available on the company’s website. the main 
responsibilities of the committee are to:
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 − review and approve all significant accounting policy 
changes and to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s administrative, operating and accounting 
policies; management information and control systems; 
and policies to reduce exposure to fraud;

 − ensure that management pays due attention to ethical 
considerations in implementing the company’s policies 
and practices;

 − oversee the effective operation of the risk management 
framework;

 − review the accuracy and integrity of financial and 
regulatory reports and annual and half yearly financial 
statements before that are released publicly;

 − assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s internal control environment covering:

 − effectiveness and efficiency of operations
 − reliability of financial reporting
 − compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

 − recommend to the Board the appointment, removal and 
remuneration of the external auditors, and review the 
terms of their engagement, the scope and quality of the 
audit and assess performance;

 − consider the independence and competence of the 
external auditor on an ongoing basis;

 − review and approve the level of non audit services provided 
by the external auditors and ensure it does not adversely 
impact on auditor independence;

 − review and monitor related party transactions and assess 
their propriety;

 − report to the Board on matters relevant to the committee’s 
role and responsibilities.

note the company has not implemented an internal audit 
function to date due to the size of the organization.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the audit & risk committee:
 − receives regular reports from management and external 

auditors;
 − meets with the external auditors at least twice a year, 

or more frequently if necessary;
 − reviews the processes the CEO and CFO have in place 

to support their certifications to the Board;
 − reviews any significant disagreements between the 

auditors and management, irrespective of whether they 
have been resolved;

 − meets separately with the external auditors at least twice 
a year without the presence of management;

 − provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct 
communication at any time to either the Chairman of the 
committee or the Chairman of the Board.

the audit committee has authority, within the scope of its 
responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from any 
employee or external party.

ExTErNAl AudiTorS
the company and audit committee policy is to appoint external 
auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence. 
the performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually 
and applications for tender of external audit services are 
requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration 
assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs. 
pricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external 
auditor in 2005.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a 
break down of fees for non audit services, is provided in the 
directors’ report and in note 22 to the financial statements. 
It is the policy of the external auditors to provide an annual 
declaration of their independence to the audit committee.

the external auditor is requested to attend the annual general 
meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions 
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 
content of the audit report.

riSk ASSESSMENT ANd MANAgEMENT
the Board, through the Audit & Risk committee, is responsible 
for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk 
management, compliance and internal control systems. 
In summary, the company policies are designed to ensure 
strategic, operational, legal, reputation and financial risks 
are identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently managed 
and monitored to enable achievement of the Group’s 
business objectives.

A comprehensive quality system is in place that is reviewed 
regularly by various regulatory bodies from around the 
world. this quality system places considerable importance 
on maintaining a strong control environment.

Due to the company’s size no separate internal audit function 
has been established. Substantive testing is undertaken by 
external auditors who Directors may contact independently.

CodE oF CoNduCT
the company requires the highest standards of behaviour 
and professionalism and the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the Group’s integrity. 

At all times all company personnel act with the utmost integrity, 
objectivity and in compliance with the letter and the spirit 
of the law and company policies.

the purchase and sale of company securities by directors 
and employees is only permitted during the thirty-day period 
following the release of the half yearly and annual financial 
results to the market and following the Annual General Meeting.
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Corporate governance statement
continued

the company’s trading policy is discussed with each new 
employee as part of their induction training.

the directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with 
its policies on ethical standards, including trading in securities.

CoNTiNuouS diSCloSurE ANd SHArEHoldEr 
CoMMuNiCATioN
the Company Secretary has been nominated as the person 
responsible for communications with the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX). this role includes responsibility for ensuring 
compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements in the 
ASX listing Rules and overseeing and co ordinating information 
disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, 
the media and the public.

Any information to be disclosed to the ASX is subjected 
to review and authorisation by at least two directors before its 
release. this ensures that the information released is accurate.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the company’s 
website as soon as it is disclosed to the ASX. When analysts 
are briefed on aspects of the Group’s operations, the material 
used in the presentation is released to the ASX and posted on 
the company’s web site. procedures have also been established 
for reviewing whether any price sensitive information has 
been inadvertently disclosed and, if so, this information 
is also immediately released to the market.

AtCor has adopted the Corporations legislation Amendment 
(Simpler Regulatory System) Bill 2007 that makes the annual 
report available on the company’s website and only provides 
a printed copy to those members who elect to receive 
it in this form. 

the website also includes a feedback mechanism and an 
option for shareholders to register their email address for direct 
email updates on company matters.

CoMpliANCE wiTH CorporATE govErNANCE 
priNCiplES ANd rECoMMENdATioNS

principle 1: lay solid foundation for management 
and oversight

Board and management roles are defined via a Board charter, 
shown in the Corporate Governance statement preceding.

principle 2: Structure the board to add value

AtCor is in compliance with principle 2, as follows:
 − the majority of the Board are independent directors;
 − the chairman is an independent director;
 − the chairman and CEO are different people; and
 − A nomination committee exists, and its membership 

comprises independent directors.

there is no formal induction process for Directors due to the 
small size of the company, though directors have access to all 
key personnel as and when required.

principle 3: promote ethical and responsible 
decision making

the Board works within an ethical framework including 
a clearly enunciated share trading policy.

principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

the company has an audit committee whose membership 
and charter are disclosed on page 24 and 25.

principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

AtCor complies with this principle as disclosed on page 26.

principle 6: respect the rights of shareholders

AtCor is active in communicating with its shareholders, 
including posting all announcements to a separate section on its 
website. Additionally, shareholders and interested parties may 
receive an email notification when announcements have been 
posted if desired. the company complies with this principle.

principle 7: recognise and manage risk

Board members receive full reports from all functions 
within the company each Board meeting which alert 
directors to specific risks and actions taken to mitigate 
these risks. A company-wide review of risk has also been 
undertaken during the year and actions taken to mitigate 
risk where appropriate.

Regular external financial and regulatory audits are undertaken 
and findings provided to Directors.

principle 8: remunerate fairly and responsibly

Remuneration principles are disclosed on pages 10-11. 
An assessment of senior management’s performance 
against set targets is made by the Remuneration committee 
at least annually.
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Income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated

Notes
2010

$
2009

$

revenue from continuing operations

Revenue from sale of goods 5 9,198,496 11,209,113

Other revenue 5 53,783 241,789

Total revenue 9,252,279 11,450,902

Other income 6 781,562 948,833

other expenses from ordinary activities

Cost of sale of goods (909,782) (1,739,813)

Depreciation and amortisation (165,834) (176,410)

Marketing and sales expense (5,808,475) (6,550,181)

product development and regulatory expense (1,963,756) (2,265,600)

Occupancy expense (138,054) (142,496)

Administration expense (2,044,419) (3,209,680)

Foreign exchange losses (223,578) –

loss before income tax 7 (1,220,057) (1,684,445)

Income tax expense 8 – (6,988)

loss for the year (1,220,057) (1,691,433)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign balances 83,525 133,201

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (1,136,532) (1,558,232)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to members 
of AtCor Medical Holdings limited (1,136,532) (1,558,232)

Cents Cents

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company:

Basic earnings per share 30 (1.2) (1.7)

Diluted earnings per share 30 (1.2) (1.6)

the above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2010

Consolidated

Notes
2010

$
2009

$

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,608,504 3,416,293

trade and other receivables 10 3,432,698 3,382,307

Inventories 11 295,060 434,117

Other 12 178,759 138,995

Total current assets 5,515,021 7,371,712

Non current assets

property, plant and equipment 13 255,282 351,775

Intangible assets 14 131,000 176,674

Total non current assets 386,282 528,449

Total assets 5,901,303 7,900,161

liAbiliTiES

Current liabilities

trade and other payables 15 2,127,130 3,223,065

provisions 16 – 4,054

Total current liabilities 2,127,130 3,227,119

Non current liabilities

provisions 17 37,408 28,020

Total non current liabilities 37,408 28,020

Total liabilities 2,164,538 3,255,139

Net assets 3,736,765 4,645,022

EquiTY

Contributed equity 18 29,039,194 28,981,611

Reserves 19(a) 1,217,378 963,161

Accumulated losses 19(b) (26,519,807) (25,299,750)

Total equity 3,736,765 4,645,022

the above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



An
n

uA
l 

RE
pO

Rt
 2

01
0

29

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated

Notes
2010

$
2009

$

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 4,645,022 5,961,497

total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year 19 (1,136,532) (1,558,231)

Total recognised income and expense for the year (1,136,532) (1,558,231)

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Options exercised 57,583 –

Employee share options 31 170,692 241,756

228,275 241,756

Total equity at the end of the financial year 3,736,765 4,645,022

the above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated

Notes
2010

$
2009

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 7,298,027 11,259,797

payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (10,661,737) (12,920,682)

(3,363,710) (1,660,885)

Other revenue 731,894 853,251

Interest received 53,265 170,078

Net cash outflow from operating activities 29 (2,578,551) (637,556)

Cash flows from investing activities

payments for property, plant and equipment (61,042) (132,345)

Repayment of loan from key management personnel and ex director 853,697 708,979

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 792,655 576,634

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares from option exercise 57,583 –

Net cash inflow from financing activities 57,583 –

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,728,313) (60,922)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 3,416,293 3,316,165

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (79,476) 161,050

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 1,608,504 3,416,293

the above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010

NoTE 1. SuMMArY oF SigNiFiCANT 
ACCouNTiNg poliCiES
the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
these policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. the financial statements 
are for the consolidated entity consisting of AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited and its subsidiaries.

a. basis of preparation

this general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, urgent Issues Group Interpretations and 
the Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with iFrS
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
Compliance with AIFRSs ensures that the financial report 
of AtCor Medical Holdings limited complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Historical cost convention
these financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the group’s accounting policies. the areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

Financial statement presentation
the group has applied the revised AASB 101 presentation 
of Financial Statements which became effective on 1 January 
2009. the revised standard requires the separate presentation 
of a statement of comprehensive income and a statement 
of changes in equity. All non owner changes in equity must 
now be presented in the statement of comprehensive income. 
As a consequence, the group had to change the presentation 
of its financial statements. Comparative information has 
been re presented so that it is also in conformity with the 
revised standard.

b. going concern

the consolidated entity has continued to experience operating 
losses and negative cash flows from operating activities during 
the year ended 30 June 2010, though at a manageable rate 
due primarily to the consolidated entity continuing progress in 
expanding their operations. 

the Board approves an annual budget and regularly receives 
forecasts from management to monitor performance against 
budget and to consider longer terms prospects. In addition the 
Board has approved plans to manage cash inflows and outflows 
to ensure that the company and consolidated entity will have 
sufficient funds to meet their debts as and when they fall due 
for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this report.

In these circumstances the directors have considered 
the suitability of adopting the going concern basis for the 
preparation of this financial report and have concluded that 
it is the appropriate basis of preparation.

c. business combinations

the purchase method of accounting is used to account for 
all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets 
given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an 
acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is their published 
market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare 
circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the published price 
at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value 
and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more 
reliable measure of fair value. transaction costs arising on the 
issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest. the excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the 
cost of acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, 
but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, 
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange. the discount rate 
used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the 
rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 1. SuMMArY oF SigNiFiCANT 
ACCouNTiNg poliCiES CoNTiNuEd

d. principles of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets 
and liabilities of all subsidiaries of AtCor Medical Holdings 
limited (“company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2010 
and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
AtCor Medical Holdings limited and its subsidiaries together 
are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the 
consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights. the existence and effect of potential voting rights 
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. they are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

the purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to note 1(c)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 

e. Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations 
engaged in providing products or services that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different to those of other business 
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 
products or services within a particular economic environment 
and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those 
of segments operating in other economic environments.

f. Foreign currency translation

i. Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the 
functional currency’). the consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Australian dollars, which is AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited’s functional and presentation currency.

ii. Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 

at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement. 

iii. group companies
the results and financial position of all the Group entities 
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows: 

 − assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet;

 − income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not 
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the 
transactions); and

 − all resulting exchange differences are recognised 
as a separate component of equity.

g. revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 
net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. 
Revenue is recognised as follows:

i. Medical devices
A sale is recorded when goods have been dispatched 
to a customer pursuant to a sales order and the associated 
risk has passed to the carrier or customer.

ii. Services
Revenue from services is recognised over the period that 
the service is provided.

iii. interest 
Interest income is recognised when the group becomes 
entitled to receive interest. Interest income is recognised 
at the prevailing interest rates.

h. government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value 
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised 
in the income statement over the period necessary to match 
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

i. income tax

the income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on 
the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted 
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by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income 
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent 
entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the 
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities 
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to 
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts 
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly 
in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation
AtCor Medical Holdings limited and its wholly owned Australian 
controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation as of July 1 2005.

the head entity, AtCor Medical Holdings limited, and the 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. these tax 
amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated 
group continues to be a standalone taxpayer in its own right. 

j. leases

leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards 
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.

k. impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
they might be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash generating units).

l. Cash and equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

m. Trade receivables

trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for 
doubtful debts. trade receivables are due for settlement on 
terms between 30 and 90 days from the date of recognition.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectible are written off. 
A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there 
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
the amount of the provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. the 
amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

n. inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 
direct materials only. Costs are assigned to individual items 
of stock on the basis of weighted average costs.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 1. SuMMArY oF SigNiFiCANT 
ACCouNTiNg poliCiES CoNTiNuEd

o. investments and other financial assets

the Group classifies its other financial assets in the following 
categories: loans and receivables. the classification depends 
on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its investments 
at initial recognition and re evaluates this designation at each 
reporting date.

i. loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. they arise when the Group provides money, goods 
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the 
receivable. they are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date that are classified as non current assets. loans and 
receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet.

p. plant and equipment

plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial period 
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the diminishing value method 
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

 − Manufacturing plant and equipment 3-10 years
 − Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(k)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount. these are included in the 
income statement. 

q. intangible assets

i. Trademarks and licences
trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impaired 
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of trademarks and licences 
over their estimated useful lives.

ii. research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the 
prospect of obtaining new scientific or technical knowledge 
and understanding, is recognised in the income statement 
as an expense when it is incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, being the application 
of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or design 
for the production of new or substantially improved products 
or services before the start of commercial production or 
use, is capitalised if the product or service is technically and 
commercially feasible and adequate resources are available to 
complete development. the expenditure capitalised comprises 
all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, 
services, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised 
in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the 
straight line method to allocate the cost over the period of the 
expected benefit, which varies between 5-10 years.

r. Trade and other payables

these amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. the amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

s. provisions

provisions for legal claims and service warranties are 
recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than 
not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined 
by  considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision 
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect 
to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small.
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t. Employee benefits

i. wages and salaries and annual leave
liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other 
creditors in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting 
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. 

ii. long service leave
the liability for long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and is measured in accordance 
with (i) above. the liability for long service leave expected 
to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date is 
recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

iii. bonus plans
A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans 
is recognised in other creditors when there is no realistic 
alternative but to settle the liability and at least one of the 
following conditions is met:

 − there are formal terms in the plan for determining 
the amount of the benefit

 − the amounts to be paid are determined before the time 
of completion of the financial report, or

 − past practice gives clear evidence of the amount 
of the obligation.

liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when they are settled.

iv. Share based payments
Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees 
via the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan 
(ESOp). Information relating to this scheme is set out in note 31.

the fair value of options granted under the AtCor Medical 
Holdings Employee Share Option plan is recognised as an 
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. the fair value is measured at grant date and recognised 
over the period during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options.

the fair value at grant date is determined using a Black Scholes 
option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, 
the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, 
the impact of dilution, the non tradable nature of the option, 
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option.

the fair value of the options granted excludes the impact 
of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability 
and sales growth targets). non-market vesting conditions are 
included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, 
the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that 
are expected to become exercisable. the employee benefit 
expense recognised each period takes into account the 
most recent estimate.

upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share based 
payments reserve relating to those options is transferred 
to share capital and the proceeds received, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital.

v. Termination benefits

termination benefits may become payable to some employees 
in the event of termination prior to expiry of their contract 
or upon change of control of AtCor Medical Holdings limited 
or a subsidiary. the Group recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to terminating the 
employment of the employees entitled to termination benefits, 
or when a change of control of a member of the Group 
is virtually certain. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after balance sheet date are discounted to present value.

u. Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of a business, 
are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the 
purchase consideration.

v. dividends

provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared 
on or before the end of the year but not distributed 
at balance date.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 1. SuMMArY oF SigNiFiCANT 
ACCouNTiNg poliCiES CoNTiNuEd

w. Earnings per share

i. basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the year.

ii. diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares 
and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have 
been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

x. goods and services tax (gST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of associated GSt, unless the GSt incurred is not recoverable 
from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount 
of GSt receivable or payable. the net amount of GSt 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included 
with other receivables or payables on the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. the GSt 
components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, a tax 
authority are presented as operating cash flow.

y. parent entity financial information

the financial information for the parent entity, AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited, disclosed in note 32, has been prepared 
on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements.

z. New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2010 
reporting periods. the Group’s assessment of the impact 
of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

i. AASb 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 
In May 2009, the AASB issued a number of improvements 
to existing Australian Accounting Standards. the Group does 
not expect that any adjustments will be necessary as the result 
of applying the revised rules.

ii. AASb 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
and AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 
In June 2010, the AASB made a number of amendments 
Australian Accounting Standards as shortly result of the 
IASB’s annual improvements project. the Group will apply 
the amendments from 1 July 2010. the Group does not expect 
that any adjustments will be necessary as the result of applying 
the revised rules.

iii. AASb 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian 
Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements
On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised 
differential reporting framework in Australia. under this 
framework, a two-tier differential reporting regime applies 
to all entities that prepare general purpose financial 
statements. AtCor Medical Holdings limited is listed on the 
ASX and is therefore not eligible to adopt the new Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
As a consequence, the two standards will have no impact 
on the financial statements of the entity. 

NoTE 2. FiNANCiAl riSk MANAgEMENT
the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; 
market risk (primarily currency risk), credit risk, and liquidity 
risk. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the Group. the Group uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed. these methods 
include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate and 
foreign exchange risk and aging analysis for credit risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) and overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee, 
a subcommittee of the Board of Directors.

a. Market risk

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency. the risk is measured using sensitivity analysis 
and cash flow forecasting.

the Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from currency exposures to the uS Dollar 
and the Euro Dollar.
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Sensitivity
Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2010, 
had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% 
against the uS dollar with all other variables held constant, 
the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year would have varied by 
$299,580/($269,622) (2009: $136,014/($122,413)). 
Had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% 
against the Euro with all other variables held constant, 
the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year would have varied 
by $47,848/($43,063) (2009: $94,461/($77,287)). 
the increased exposure is due to increased cash and 
receivables held in foreign currencies as the business 
grows offshore.

b. Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative 
financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated 
and reputable parties are accepted. the Group has policies 
in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. terms 
of trade provided to creditworthy customers are between 
30 and 90 days, whilst customers deemed higher risk 
arrange a letter of credit or prepay for goods. 

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 
is the carrying amount of the financial assets.

c. liquidity risk

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability 
of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities and the ability to close out market positions. the 
Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

d. Fair value estimation

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
must be estimated for recognition and measurement 
or for disclosure purposes.

the carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables 
and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due 
to their short-term nature. the fair value of financial liabilities 
approximates their carrying values.

NoTE 3. CriTiCAl ACCouNTiNg ESTiMATES 
ANd JudgEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact 
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

the financial report is prepared on the basis that the Group 
will continue as a going concern. the cash flow projection 
and other consideration made by the directors in these 
circumstances involve estimates and judgements of future 
cash flow that are believed to be reasonable.

the investment in subsidiaries recorded in the parent entity 
is based on discounted cash flow calculations that incorporate 
judgements and estimates of future earnings that are believed 
to be reasonable. 

NoTE 4. SEgMENT iNForMATioN

a. description of segments

business segments
the consolidated entity operates in one business segment 
being cardiovascular medical equipment sales.

geographical segments
Although the consolidated entity’s divisions are managed on 
a global basis they operate in three main geographical areas:

 − Americas
 − Europe (includes Middle East and Africa)
 − Asia pacific (includes Asia & Australia/nZ)

the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk at the reporting date was as follows:

30 June 2010 30 June 2009

USD EUR USD EUR

trade Receivables 2,368,405 346,538 632,400 447,092

Financial Assets 255,682 56,841 803,088 127,538

trade payables (353,128) (106,752) (447,931) (86,511)



38

 A
TC

o
r 

M
Ed

iC
Al

 H
o

ld
iN

gS
 l

iM
iT

Ed

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 4. SEgMENT iNForMATioN CoNTiNuEd

b. primary reporting format – geographical segments

2010
Americas

$
Europe

$
Asia Pacific

$

Inter–segment 
eliminations/

unallocated
$

Consolidated
$

Sales to external customers 6,871,462 1,533,306 793,728 9,198,496

Intersegment sales 1,422,582 (1,422,582) –

Total sales revenue 6,871,462 1,533,306 2,216,310 (1,422,582) 9,198,496

Other revenue/income 754,721 754,721

Total segment revenue/income 6,871,462 1,533,306 2,971,031 (1,422,582) 9,953,217

Segment result 2,069,680 (478,663) (2,668,120) – (996,480)

unallocated revenue less unallocated expenses (223,577)

loss before income tax (1,220,057)

Income tax expense –

loss for the year (1,220,057)

Segment assets 8,611,428 484,517 25,564,979 (28,759,621) 5,901,303

unallocated assets –

Total assets 5,901,303

Segment liabilities (8,662,738) (154,974) (21,873,394) 28,526,568 (2,164,538)

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, 
intangibles and other non current segment assets 22,822 – 38,220 61,042

depreciation and amortisation expense 28,101 – 137,733 165,834

other non cash expenses – – 223,578 223,578

2009

Sales to external customers 7,594,173 2,604,606 1,010,334 – 11,209,113

Intersegment sales – – 3,839,356 (3,839,356) –

Total sales revenue 7,594,173 2,604,606 4,849,690 (3,839,356) 11,209,113

Other revenue/income – – 948,833 – 948,833

Total segment revenue/income 7,594,173 2,604,606 5,798,523 (3,839,356) 12,157,946

Segment result 1,942,440 321,547 (4,190,221) – (1,926,234)

unallocated revenue less unallocated expenses 241,789

loss before income tax (1,684,445)

Income tax expense (6,988)

loss for the year (1,691,433)

Segment assets 3,521,655 778,696 24,937,839 (21,338,029) 7,900,161

unallocated assets –

Total assets 7,900,161

Segment liabilities (2,138,999) (150,676) (23,318,112) 22,352,648 (3,255,139)

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, 
intangibles and other non current segment assets 56,520 – 75,825 132,345

depreciation and amortisation expense 44,519 – 131,891 176,410

other non cash expenses – – 241,757 241,757
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c. Notes to and forming part of the segment information

inter segment transfers
Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on an “arm’s length” basis 
and are eliminated on consolidation.

NoTE 5. rEvENuE
Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

From continuing operations

Sales revenue

Sale of goods 8,000,629 8,614,089

Sale of services 1,197,867 2,595,024

9,198,496 11,209,113

other revenue

Interest 53,783 241,789

9,252,279 11,450,902

NoTE 6. oTHEr iNCoME

Government grants(a) 731,893 651,897

Foreign exchange gain (net)(b) – 255,141

Other 49,669 41,795

781,562 948,833

a. Government grants: Commercial Ready grants of $570,986 (2009: $651,897) were recognised as other income by the Group during the financial year. 
there are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants. Additionally, the group received $160,907 in satisfaction of an Export 
Market Development Grant application. no funds were received in 2009 under the EMDG program.

b. Foreign exchange loss in 2010 – refer note 7

NoTE 7. ExpENSES

profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation on plant and equipment 120,160 130,736

Amortisation of patents and trademarks 45,674 45,674

165,834 176,410

Employee benefit expense 5,883,441 7,242,247

Rental expense relating to operating leases 138,054 142,496

Foreign exchange gains and losses (net)(a) 223,578 –

(a)  foreign exchange gain in 2009 – refer note 6
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 8. iNCoME TAx ExpENSE

a. income tax expense

the income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on the loss. the differences are reconciled 
as follows:

Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (1,220,057) (1,684,445)

tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2009:30%) (366,017) (505,334)

tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

– Share based payment 51,208 72,527

– Amortisation of intangibles 13,702 13,702

– Sundry items 660 425

(300,447) (418,680)

Differences in overseas tax rates 24,226 30,254

Benefit of tax losses not recognised 276,221 395,414

income tax expense – 6,988

b. Tax losses

unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised: 22,080,012 20,551,650

potential tax benefit @ 30% 6,624,004 6,165,495

this benefit for tax losses will only be obtained if:
i. the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from 

the deductions for the losses to be realised;
ii. the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and
iii. no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses.

c. Tax consolidation legislation

AtCor Medical Holdings limited and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities are consolidated for income tax purposes. 
the accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(i).

As at the date of this report the entities in the tax consolidation group had not entered into a tax sharing agreement. no compensation 
has been received or paid for any current tax payable or deferred tax assets relating to tax losses assumed by the parent entity since 
implementation of the tax consolidation regime.

NoTE 9. CurrENT ASSETS CASH ANd CASH EquivAlENTS

Cash at bank and in hand 851,947 1,410,643

Deposits at call 756,557 2,005,650

1,608,504 3,416,293

a. Cash at bank and on hand

these are a combination of non-interest bearing and interest bearing at floating interest rates between 0.00% and 1.75%.

b. deposits at call

the deposits are bearing a floating interest rate of 4.75% (2009 – 3.30%). these deposits have an average maturity of 30 days.
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NoTE 10. CurrENT ASSETS TrAdE ANd oTHEr rECEivAblES
Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

trade receivables 3,447,232 2,367,686

less: provision for doubtful debts (21,226) (38,636)

3,426,006 2,329,050

loan to key management personnel – 84,960

loan to ex director – 961,605

Other receivables 6,692 6,692

3,432,698 3,382,307

a. impaired trade receivables

As at 30 June 2010 current trade receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $21,226 (2009: $38,636) were impaired. the 
amount of the provision was $21,226 (2009: $38,636).

At 1 July 38,636 33,127

provision for impairment recognised during the year 55,064 23,053

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (72,474) (17,544)

unused amount reversed – –

21,226 38,636

the creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘other expenses’ in the income statement. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

b. past due but not impaired

As of 30 June 2010, trade receivables of $301,063 (2009: $656,621) were past due but not impaired. these relate to a number 
of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. the ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

0 – 30 days 199,446 394,752

30 – 60 days 87,382 66,996

> 60 days 14,235 194,873

301,063 656,621

the other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.

c. other receivables

these amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group.

d. Fair value, foreign exchange and credit risk

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. the maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above. Refer to note 2 
for more information on the risk management policy of the Group, the credit quality and foreign currency risk of the Group’s 
trade receivables.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 11. CurrENT ASSETS iNvENToriES
Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

Raw materials and stores at cost 253,112 340,819

Finished goods at cost 41,948 93,298

295,060 434,117

Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2010 amounted to $354,277 (2009: $824,666). there were 
no write-downs of inventories to net realisable values during the year ended 30 June 2010 and 2009.

NoTE 12. CurrENT ASSETS – oTHEr 

prepayments 148,475 106,341

Other 30,284 32,654

178,759 138,995

NoTE 13. NoN CurrENT ASSETS propErTY, plANT ANd EquipMENT

Consolidated 

Manufacturing 
plant and 

equipment
$

Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment

$
Total

$

At 1 July 2008

Cost 159,094 639,891 798,985

Accumulated depreciation (87,466) (361,353) (448,819)

Net book amount 71,628 278,538 350,166

Year ended 30 June 2008

Opening net book amount 71,628 278,538 350,166

Additions 88,443 43,902 132,345

Depreciation charge (33,651) (97,085) (130,736)

Closing net book amount 126,420 225,355 351,775

At 30 June 2009

Cost 241,323 599,526 840,849

Accumulated depreciation (114,903) (374,171) (489,074)

Net book amount 126,420 225,355 351,775

Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book amount 126,420 225,355 351,775

Additions – 61,042 61,042

Asset write off – (37,375) (37,375)

Depreciation charge (32,424) (87,736) (120,160)

Closing net book amount 93,996 161,286 255,282

At 30 June 2010

Cost 241,323 623,193 864,516

Accumulated depreciation (147,327) (461,907) (609,234)

Net book amount 93,996 161,286 255,282
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NoTE 14. NoN CurrENT ASSETS iNTANgiblE ASSETS 

Consolidated

Development 
costs*

$

Patents, 
trademarks 

and other 
rights

$
Total

$

At 1 July 2008

Cost 135,713 240,910 376,623

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (49,762) (104,513) (154,275)

Net book amount 85,951 136,397 222,348

Year ended 30 June 2009

Opening net book amount 85,951 136,397 222,348

Amortisation charge** (27,142) (18,532) (45,674)

Closing net book amount 58,809 117,865 176,674

At 30 June 2009

Cost 135,713 240,910 376,623

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (76,904) (123,045) (199,949)

Net book amount 58,809 117,865 176,674

Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book amount 58,809 117,865 176,674

Amortisation charge** (27,142) (18,532) (45,674)

Closing net book amount 31,667 99,333 131,000

At 30 June 2010

Cost 135,713 240,910 376,623

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (104,046) (141,577) (245,623)

Net book amount 31,667 99,333 131,000

*  Capitalised development costs represent costs paid to an external party for intellectual property associated with the development of new sensor 
technologies. these development costs are expected to have a useful life of up to 10 years.

** Amortisation of $ $45,674 (2009: 45,674) is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement.

NoTE 15. CurrENT liAbiliTiES – TrAdE ANd oTHEr pAYAblES
Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

trade payables 960,046 621,183

Other payables 1,167,084 2,601,882

2,127,130 3,223,065

NoTE 16. CurrENT liAbiliTiES proviSioNS

Current employee benefits – 4,054

NoTE 17. NoN CurrENT liAbiliTiES – proviSioNS

Employee benefits 37,408 28,020
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 18. CoNTribuTEd EquiTY
parent entity parent entity

2010
Shares

2009
Shares

2010
$

2009
$

a. Share capital

Fully paid ordinary shares 100,391,667 100,000,000 35,486,484 35,438,901

b. Movements in ordinary share capital:

During the year ended 30 June 2010 391,667 shares were issued following the exercise of options issued to executives under 
the AtCor ESOp. there were no movements in share capital during the year ending 30 June 2009. 

c. ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon 
a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

d. Employee Share option plan

Information relating to the AtCor Medical Holdings limited Employee Share Option plan, including details of options issued, 
exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of the financial year, is set out in note 31.

e. reconciliation of parent entity and consolidated contributed equity

the consolidated equity for the group at 30 June 2010 includes the following items:

 $

Equity of AtCor Medical pty ltd at the date acquisition 13,674,710

Share placement 15,000,000

Exercise of options  2,117,675

transaction costs arising from share issue (1,753,191)

Total 29,039,194

the difference between the contributed equity of the parent entity and that of the consolidated equity is a result of accounting for 
the reverse acquisition. the consolidated entity includes the cost of AtCor Medical Holdings limited and AtCor Medical pty limited 
at original cost. AtCor Medical Holdings limited is deemed to acquire AtCor Medical pty ltd and the $20,132,000 is shown at fair 
value in the consolidated balance sheet.

From the perspective of the parent entity, AtCor Medical Holdings limited has acquired all the shares in AtCor Medical pty limited 
as the legal parent. this transaction was accounted for at the cost of the transaction per the share sale agreement of A$13,674,710.
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NoTE 19. rESErvES ANd rETAiNEd proFiTS
Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

a. reserves

Share based payments reserve 826,089 655,397

Foreign currency translation reserve 391,289 307,764

1,217,378 963,161

Movements:

Share based payments reserve

Balance 1 July 655,397 413,640

Option expense 170,692 241,757

balance 30 June 826,089 655,397

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance 1 July 307,764 174,563

Currency translation differences arising through the year 83,525 133,201

balance 30 June 391,289 307,764

b. Accumulated losses

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:

Balance 1 July (25,299,750) (23,608,317)

net loss for the year (1,220,057) (1,691,433)

balance 30 June (26,519,807) (25,299,750)

c. Nature and purpose of reserves

Share based payments reserve
the share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised.

NoTE 20. dividENdS
no dividends were paid or declared since 30 June 2010 and the directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

NoTE 21. kEY MANAgEMENT pErSoNNEl diSCloSurES

a. key management personnel compensation

Short-term employee benefits 1,440,934 1,781,139

post-employment benefits 59,611 77,698

Share based payments 135,743 129,111

1,636,288 1,987,948

the company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulations and has transferred the detailed remuneration 
disclosures to the Directors’ Report. the relevant information can be found in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ Report.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 21. kEY MANAgEMENT pErSoNNEl diSCloSurES CoNTiNuEd

b. Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

i. options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options
Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms and conditions 
of the options, can be found in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ Report.

ii. option holdings
the number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of AtCor Medical Holdings 
ltd and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.

2010

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance 
at the end of 

the year

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the end 
of the year 

directors of AtCor Medical Holdings ltd

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) – 400,000 – – 400,000 –

D.R Ross (CEO) 4,500,000 – – – 4,500,000 3,166,667

M O’Rourke – 200,000 – – 200,000 –

p Jenkins – 200,000 – – 200,000 –

D.l Brookes – 200,000 – – 200,000 –

other key management personnel of the group

p Manley 1,025,000 150,000 – – 1,175,000 741,667

D Kurschinski 1,900,000 250,000 – – 2,150,000 1,216,667

M Harding 300,000 400,000 – – 700,000 100,000

2009

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance 
at the end of 

the year

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the end 
of the year 

directors of AtCor Medical Holdings ltd

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) – – – – – –

D.R Ross (CEO) 3,000,000 1,500,000 – – 4,500,000 2,333,334

M O’Rourke – – – – – –

p Jenkins – – – – – –

l.E McIntyre (retired 4 nov 08) – – – – – –

D.l Brookes (appointed 4 nov 08) – – – – – –

other key management personnel of the group

p Manley 700,000 325,000 – – 1,025,000 566,667

D Kurschinski 1,175,000 725,000 – – 1,900,000 583,333

M Harding – 300,000 – – 300,000 –
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iii. Share holdings
the numbers of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of AtCor Medical Holdings ltd and other 
key management personnel of the Group, including their close family members, are set out below. (Close members of the family 
of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings 
with the entity). 

2010

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

Received 
during the 

year on the 
exercise of 

options

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance 
at the end 

of the year

directors of AtCor Medical Holdings ltd

ordinary shares

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 1,940,012 – – 1,940,012

D.R Ross (CEO) 992,000 – – 992,000

M O’Rourke 9,565,788 – – 9,565,788

p.R Jenkins 893,766 – – 893,766

D.l Brookes 500,000 – – 500,000

other key management personnel of the group

ordinary shares

p Manley 100,000 – – 100,000

D Kurschinski 350,254 – – 350,254

M Harding 210,000 – 30,000 240,000

2009

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

Received 
during the 

year on the 
exercise of 

options

Other changes 
during the 

year

Balance 
at the end 

of the year

directors of AtCor Medical Holdings ltd

ordinary shares

D O’Dwyer (Chairman) 1,940,012 – – 1,940,012

D.R Ross (CEO) 992,000 – – 992,000

M O’Rourke 8,631,946 – 933,842 9,565,788

p.R Jenkins 893,766 – – 893,766

l.E McIntyre (retired 4 nov 08) 250,000 – – 250,000

D.l Brookes (appointed 4 nov 08) – – 500,000 500,000

other key management personnel of the group

ordinary shares

p Manley 100,000 – – 100,000

D Kurschinski 350,254 – – 350,254

M Harding – – 210,000 210,000
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 21. kEY MANAgEMENT pErSoNNEl diSCloSurES CoNTiNuEd
Details of loans made to directors of AtCor Medical Holdings limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including 
their personally related parties, are set out below.

i. Aggregates for key management personnel

Group

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

$

Repayments 
during 

the year
$

Interest paid 
and payable 
for the year

$
Other

$

Balance 
at the end 

of the year
$

Number 
in Group 

at the end 
of the year

2010 84,960 (85,478) 518 – – –

2009 791,843 (708,979) 37,494 (35,398) 84,960 1

ii. individuals with loans above $100,000 during the financial year

2009

Balance 
at the start 
of the year

$

Repayment 
during 

the year
$

Interest paid 
and payable 
for the year

$
Other

$

Balance 
at the end 

of the year
$

Highest 
indebtedness 

during 
the year

$

p Jenkins 205,364 (201,865) 9,443 (12,942) – 214,807

M O’Rourke 412,948 (350,000) 22,012 – 84,960 418,978

D Kurschinski 108,672 (109,968) 3,306 (2,010) – 111,978

All loans to key management personnel have been given to assist the personnel to exercise options immediately prior to the 
Initial public Offering. the loans were for periods of 4 years repayable at the conclusion of the loan period, at interest rates 
determined with reference to Australian tax Office (tax Determination 2009/10 and 2008/7). For the current year these 
rates were 5.75% per annum. 

Key management personnel were offered an incentive in 2009 for early repayment of their loans of between 2% and 6%. 
the incentive considered factors such as forgone interest income and alternative funding costs. three of four key management 
personnel took up the offer.

c. other transactions with key management personnel

i. the Group is currently party to an exclusive license agreement with Eastern Medical testing Service Inc (EMtS Inc) over a uS 
patent (uS patent number 5,265,011). EMtS Inc is a company controlled by an associate of a director, M O’Rourke. the license 
agreement contains a royalty scheme under which payments are calculated by reference to the amount of net sales revenue 
made by the Group from the sale of products incorporating the uS patent.

ii. A director, M O’Rourke, provides consulting services to the Group as a medical advisor, for which he receives a monthly 
retainer. this agreement is based on normal commercial terms and conditions. the amount paid for the year ended 30 June 
2010 is $167,740 (2009: $159,712)

Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions with key management personnel of AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited:

2010
$

2009
$

Amounts recognised as expense

Royalty 113,870 296,315

Consulting fees 167,740 159,712

281,610 456,027

Aggregate amounts payable to key management personnel of the Group at balance date relating to the above types of other 
transactions:

Current liabilities 224,739 237,622
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NoTE 22. rEMuNErATioN oF AudiTorS
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices 
and non related audit firms:

Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

Audit services

pricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 101,697 93,000

other assurance services

pricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit of Commercial Ready grant 6,695 10,067

Total remuneration for assurance services 108,392 103,067

NoTE 23. CoNTiNgENCiES

a. Contingent liabilities

no contingent liabilities exist at this time.

b. Contingent assets

no contingent assets exist at this time.

NoTE 24. CoMMiTMENTS

a. lease commitments: group as lessee

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 146,446 136,764

later than one year but not later than five years 32,445 118,622

178,891 255,386

NoTE 25. rElATEd pArTY TrANSACTioNS

a. parent entity

the parent entity within the Group is AtCor Medical Holdings limited. the ultimate Australian parent entity is AtCor Medical 
Holdings limited.

b. Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 26.

c. key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 21 and in the remuneration report within the Directors’ Report.



50

 A
TC

o
r 

M
Ed

iC
Al

 H
o

ld
iN

gS
 l

iM
iT

Ed

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 26. SubSidiAriES
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1(c):

Equity holding**

Name of entity Country of incorporation Class of shares
2010

%
2009

%

AtCor Medical pty limited* Australia Ordinary 100% 100%

AtCor Medical Inc. uSA Ordinary 100% 100%

AtCor Medical uK limited united Kingdom Ordinary 100% 100%

*   this subsidiary has been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.

** the proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.

NoTE 27. ECoNoMiC dEpENdENCY
the Group depends upon a single supplier who is a specialist manufacturer for supply of its tonometer (high-fidelity sensor), 
a key component in its SphygmoCor device. 

NoTE 28. EvENTS oCCurriNg AFTEr THE bAlANCE SHEET dATE
no matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2010 that has significantly affected or may affect the consolidated entity’s 
operations, the result of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.

NoTE 29. rECoNCiliATioN oF proFiT AFTEr iNCoME TAx To NET CASH iNFlow FroM 
opErATiNg ACTiviTiES

Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

loss for the year (1,220,057) (1,691,433)

Depreciation and amortisation 165,834 176,410

Assets written off 37,375 –

non cash employee benefits expense share based payments 170,692 241,757

Exchange difference 83,525 133,201

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables (50,391) (691,028)

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 139,057 (32,960)

Decrease/(Increase) decrease in other operating assets (813,986) (39,221)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (1,077,211) 1,270,252

(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions (13,389) (4,534)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,578,551) (637,556)
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NoTE 30. EArNiNgS pEr SHArE

a. Earnings per share
Consolidated

2010
Cents

2009
Cents

Basic earnings per share (1.2) (1.7)

Diluted earnings per share (1.2) (1.6)

b. reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

basic earnings per share

(loss) from continuing operations (1,220,057) (1,691,433)

diluted earnings per share

(loss) from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 
used in calculating basic earnings per share (1,220,057) (1,691,433)

d. weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Consolidated

2010
Number

2009
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic earnings per share 100,233,493 100,000,000

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Options – 7,262,205

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used 
as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 100,233,493 107,262,205

e. information concerning the classification of securities

i. options
Options granted to employees under the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan are considered to be potential ordinary 
shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. the options 
have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the options are set out in note 31.

no options granted are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are not dilutive for the year ended 
30 June 2010.

NoTE 31. SHArE bASEd pAYMENTS

a. Employee Share option plan (ESop)

the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Option plan was approved by shareholders at the 2005 annual general meeting and 
amendments were approved at the 2006 & 2008 annual general meetings. All staff are eligible to participate in the plan 
at the discretion of the directors (including executive directors) following recommendations from the remuneration committee, 
a sub-committee of the AtCor Medical Holdings limited Board of Directors.

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration. Options are granted for a 5 year period, and 33.3% of each new tranche 
vests and is exercisable after each of the first 3 anniversaries of the date of grant.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into 1 ordinary share.

the exercise price of options is no less than the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the Australian 
Securities Exchange during the 5 trading days immediately before the options are granted.



52

 A
TC

o
r 

M
Ed

iC
Al

 H
o

ld
iN

gS
 l

iM
iT

Ed

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

NoTE 31. SHArE bASEd pAYMENTS CoNTiNuEd
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

Grant Date Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance 
at start of 

the year

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year

Balance 
at end of 
the year

Exercisable 
at end of 
the year

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Consolidated and parent entity – 2010

9 nov 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 2,000,000

22 Sep 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 1,790,000 – – (445,000) 1,345,000 1,345,000

14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000

22 Aug 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 2,675,000 – (333,333) (166,667) 2,175,000 1,450,000

14 nov 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 666,667

22 Aug 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 1,500,000 – – – 1,500,000 500,001

4 nov 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 3,535,000 – (58,334) (256,666) 3,220,000 1,073,338

20 Aug 2009 20 Aug 2014 $0.165 – 400,000 – – 400,000 –

21 Oct 2009 21 Oct 2013 $0.215 – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 –

18 Feb 2010 18 Feb 2015 $0.164 – 625,000 – – 625,000 –

1 Mar 2010 1 Mar 2015 $0.164 – 150,000 – – 150,000 –

Total 13,500,000 2,175,000 (391,667) (868,333) 14,415,000 8,035,006

weighted average exercise price $0.27 $0.19 $0.25

Consolidated and parent entity – 2009

9 nov 2005 9 nov 2010 $0.50 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000

8 May 2006 8 May 2011 $0.50 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 2,000,000

22 Sep 2006 22 Sep 2011 $0.50 1,790,000 – – – 1,790,000 1,193,333

14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2011 $0.50 500,000 – – – 500,000 333,333

22 Aug 2007 22 Aug 2012 $0.15 2,675,000 – – – 2,675,000 891,669

14 nov 2007 14 nov 2012 $0.15 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 333,334

22 Aug 2008 22 Aug 2013 $0.12 – 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000 –

4 nov 2008 4 nov 2013 $0.13 – 3,535,000 – – 3,535,000 –

Total 8,465,000 5,035,000 – – 13,500,000 5,251,669

weighted average exercise price $0.31 $0.13 – – $0.27

391,667 options were exercised and 868,333 options were forfeited in 2010 by staff leaving AtCor’s employ. no options were 
exercised or forfeited during 2009.

the weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 3.3 years 
(2009 – 3.3 years).

Fair value of options granted
the weighted average assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 2010 was 6.8 cents per option 
(2009 – 6.3 cents). the fair value at grant date is determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option.
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the model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 included:
a. options are granted for no consideration, have a five year life, and 33.3% of each tranche vests and is exercisable after each 

of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant
b. ave exercise price: $0.19 (2009 – $0.13)
c. expiry date: 4 or 5 years from grant date (2009 –5 years from grant date)
d. ave share price at grant date: $0.17 (2009 – $0.13)
e. expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 60% (2009 – 60%)
f. expected dividend yield: nil% (2009 – nil%)
g. risk free interest rate: 5.00% (2009 – 5.76%).

the expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected 
changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

b. Expenses arising from share based payment transactions

total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense 
were as follows:

Consolidated

2010
$

2009
$

Options issued under employee option plan 170,692 241,756

NoTE 32. pArENT ENTiTY FiNANCiAl iNForMATioN

a. Summary financial information

the individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

2010
$

2009
$

balance sheet

Current assets 1,181,903 3,477,939

total assets 37,491,688 37,131,273

Current liabilities 5,362,837 4,024,235

total liabilities 5,362,837 4,024,235

Shareholders equity

Issued capital 35,496,484 35,438,901

Reserves – Share based payments 826,089 655,397

Retained earnings (4,193,722) (2,987,260)

32,128,851 33,107,038

loss for the year (1,206,463) (1,152,158)

Total comprehensive income (1,206,463) (1,152,158)

b. guarantees entered into by the parent entity

no guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity during 2010 or 2009

c. Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

the parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009.

d. Contractual commitments

the parent entity has no contractual commitments as at the date of this report.
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Directors’ declaration

in the directors’ opinion:

a. the financial statements and notes set out on pages 27 to 53 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; and
ii. giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of their 

performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable

note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

the directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

this declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

d o’dwyer 
Director

Sydney 
19 August 2010
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of AtCor Medical Holdings limited

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
www.pwc.com/au

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
AtCor Medical Holdings Limited

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of AtCor Medical Holdings Limited (the company), which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010, and the income statement, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the AtCor Medical
Holdings Limited Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities
it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1(a), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any
material inconsistencies with the financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of AtCor Medical Holdings limited continued

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
AtCor Medical Holdings Limited (continued)

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of AtCor Medical Holdings Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001) and

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 1(a).

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 10 to18 of the directors’ report for the year ended
30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of AtCor Medical Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Mark Dow Sydney
Partner 19 August 2010
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57Shareholder information

the shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 1 September 2010.

a. distribution of equity securities

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:
Class of equity security  

ordinary shares

# of holders Shares

1 – 1,000 8 3,836

1,001 – 5,000 107 397,831

5,001 – 10,000 56 499,710

10,001 – 100,000 195 8,885,857

100,001 and over 141 90,604,433

Total 507 100,391,667

there were 103 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

b. Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

the names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

ordinary shares

Name Number held
Percentage of 
issued shares

Capital Investment pty ltd 17,827,726 17.76%

pehila pty ltd <O’Rourke Superannuation Fund> 9,384,288 9.35%

J p Morgan nominees Australia limited 4,999,311 4.98%

Barrijag pty ltd <the Hadley S/F A/C> 2,000,000 1.99%

Calama Holdings pty ltd <Mambat Super Fund A/C> 1,500,000 1.49%

towns Corporation pty ltd <pae Family A/C> 1,408,789 1.40%

Dinwoodie Investments pty ltd <Dinwoodie Investments A/C> 1,400,000 1.39%

Barrijag pty ltd <the Hadley Super Fund A/C> 1,381,250 1.38%

Mrs Susan Hadley 1,300,000 1.29%

Crinch nominees pty ltd 1,290,000 1.28%

Carnethy Evergreen pty ltd <Carnethy Evergreen Fund A/C> 1,200,000 1.20%

Jens-Ole Dines larsen & Janthine Elizabeth larsen <larsen Superannuation Fund> 1,157,758 1.15%

F H nominees pty ltd 1,072,346 1.07%

Mr James Clement Whiting 1,000,000 1.00%

Dr Russell Kay Hancock 1,000,000 1.00%

Mr uwe Rudolf Kohlmuenzer 1,000,000 1.00%

I E properties pty ltd 1,000,000 1.00%

Dundrum Investments <O’Dwyer Family A/C> 975,000 0.97%

Grq Strategies pty ltd <Sheller Admin S/F A/C> 900,000 0.90%

Drumnadrochit Futures pty ltd 900,000 0.90%

peter Raymond Jenkins 893,766 0.89%

Mr John-paul Drake 850,000 0.85%

Sysuper pty ltd <M Symonds Super Fund A/C> 805,000 0.80%

Yelwac pty ltd <the Cawley Superfund no2 A/C> 800,000 0.80%

Total 56,045,234 55.83%
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Shareholder information
continued

Unquoted equity securities

Name
Number on 

issue
Number of 

holders

Options issued under the AtCor Medical Holdings Employee Share Option plan 
to take up ordinary shares 14,415,000 22

c. Substantial holders

Substantial holders in the company are set out below:

Number of 
shares held

Percentage of 
issued shares

Ordinary shares

Capital Investment pty ltd 17,827,726 17.83%

pehila pty ltd <O’Rourke Superannuation Fund> 9,384,288 9.38%

d. voting rights

the voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:

a.  Ordinary shares 
 On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote.

b.  Options 
no voting rights.
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Corporate directory

dirECTorS
Mr Donal O’Dwyer BEng, MBA non-Executive Chairman
Mr Duncan Ross BS  CEO and Managing Director
Dr Michael O’Rourke MD, DSc non-Executive Director
Mr peter Jenkins DSc (honorary) non-Executive Director
Dr David Brookes MBBS FACRRM non-Executive Director

SECrETArY
Mr peter Manley BBus, CpA, ACIS CFO and Company Secretary 

priNCipAl rEgiSTErEd oFFiCE iN AuSTrAliA
Suite 11, 1059 – 1063 Victoria Road 
West Ryde nSW 2114

SHArE ANd dEbENTurE rEgiSTEr
link Market Services ltd 
level 12, 680 George Street

pO Box 20013 
World Square nSW 2000

AudiTor
pricewaterhouseCoopers 
Darling park tower 2 
201 Sussex Street

GpO Box 2650 
Sydney nSW 1171

SoliCiTorS
Dibbs Barker 
lvl 8, 123 pitt Street

GpO Box 983 
Sydney nSW 2001

SToCk ExCHANgE liSTiNgS
AtCor Medical Holdings limited shares are listed 
on the Australian Securities Exchange under ASX code ACG.

wEbSiTE AddrESS
www.atcormedical.com
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